Public Document Pack

AGENDA
COUNCIL MEETING
THURSDAY, 23RD JANUARY, 2020
– 5.30 PM

Members of the Council are summoned to a meeting of the Mid Suffolk District Council at
King Edmund Chamber - Endeavour House, 8 Russell Road, Ipswich on Thursday, 23rd
January, 2020 at 5.30 pm.

Arthur Charvonia
Chief Executive

Page 1

Page 2

MSDC COUNCIL
DATE:

THURSDAY, 23 JANUARY 2020
5.30 PM

VENUE:

KING EDMUND CHAMBER ENDEAVOUR HOUSE,
8 RUSSELL ROAD, IPSWICH

This meeting will be broadcast live to Youtube and will be capable of repeated viewing.
The entirety of the meeting will be filmed except for confidential or exempt items. If you
attend the meeting in person you will be deemed to have consented to being filmed and
that the images and sound recordings could be used for webcasting/ training purposes.
The Council, members of the public and the press may record/film/photograph or
broadcast this meeting when the public and the press are not lawfully excluded.

PART 1
MATTERS TO BE CONSIDERED WITH THE PRESS AND PUBLIC PRESENT
Page(s)
1

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

2

DECLARATION OF INTERESTS BY COUNCILLORS

3

MC/19/30 TO CONFIRM THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD 7 - 20
ON 24 OCTOBER 2019

4

MC/19/31 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS

5

MC/19/32 LEADER'S ANNOUNCEMENTS
To follow.

6

TO RECEIVE NOTIFICATION OF PETITIONS IN ACCORDANCE
WITH COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES
In accordance with Council Procedure Rule 11, The Chief Executive
will report the receipt of any petitions. There can be no debate or
comment upon these matters at the Council meeting.

7

QUESTIONS BY THE PUBLIC IN ACCORDANCE WITH COUNCIL
PROCEDURE RULES
The Chairs of Committees to answer any questions from the public
of which notice has been given no later than midday three clear
working days before the day of the meeting in accordance with
Council Procedure Rule 12.
Page 3

21 - 22

Page(s)
8

QUESTIONS BY COUNCILLORS IN ACCORDANCE WITH
COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES
The Chairman of the Council, Chairs of Committees and SubCommittees and Portfolio Holders to answer any questions on any
matters in relation to which the Council has powers or duties or
which affect the District of which due notice has been given in
accordance with Council Procedure Rule 13.

9

TO RECEIVE REPORTS FROM CABINET MEMBERS

23 - 62

CMU10 – Leader and Cabinet Member for Assets and Investments
CMU11 – Leader, Cabinet Member for Assets and Investments and
Cabinet Member for Customers, Digital Transformation &
Improvement (Law and Governance)
CMU12 – Cabinet Member for Communities
CMU13 – Cabinet Member for Customers, Digital Transformation &
Improvement
CMU14 – Cabinet Member for Economic Growth
CMU15 – Cabinet Member for Environment
CMU16 – Cabinet Member for Finance
CMU17 – Cabinet Member for Housing
CMU18 – Cabinet Member for Planning
10

MC/19/33 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT

63 - 68

Chair of Overview and Scrutiny Committee
11

MC/19/34 BOTESDALE & RICKINGHALL NEIGHBOURHOOD 69 - 72
DEVELOPMENT PLAN
Cabinet Member for Planning

12

COUNCILLOR APPOINTMENTS

Date and Time of next meeting
Please note that the next meeting is scheduled for Thursday, 27 February 2020 at 5.30 pm.
Webcasting/ Live Streaming
The Webcast of the meeting will be available to view on the Councils Youtube page:
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCSWf_0D13zmegAf5Qv_aZSg
For more information about this meeting, including access arrangements and facilities for people
with disabilities, please contact Committee Services on: 01473 296472 or Email:
Committees@baberghmidsuffolk.gov.uk

Page 4

Introduction to Public Meetings
Babergh/Mid Suffolk District Councils are committed to Open Government.
The
proceedings of this meeting are open to the public, apart from any confidential or exempt
items which may have to be considered in the absence of the press and public.

Domestic Arrangements:




Toilets are situated opposite the meeting room.
Cold water is also available outside opposite the room.
Please switch off all mobile phones or turn them to silent.

Evacuating the building in an emergency: Information for Visitors:
If you hear the alarm:
1.

Leave the building immediately via a Fire Exit and make your way to the Assembly
Point (Ipswich Town Football Ground).

2.

Follow the signs directing you to the Fire Exits at each end of the floor.

3.

Do not enter the Atrium (Ground Floor area and walkways). If you are in the Atrium
at the time of the Alarm, follow the signs to the nearest Fire Exit.

4.

Use the stairs, not the lifts.

5.

Do not re-enter the building until told it is safe to do so.

Page 5

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 3
MID SUFFOLK DISTRICT COUNCIL
Minutes of the meeting of the MID SUFFOLK COUNCIL held in the King Edmund
Chamber - Endeavour House, 8 Russell Road, Ipswich on Thursday, 24 October 2019
PRESENT:
Councillor:

Lavinia Hadingham (Chair)
Barry Humphreys MBE (Vice-Chair)

Councillors:

Oliver Amorowson
David Burn
James Caston
Paul Ekpenyong
Julie Flatman
Dr Helen Geake
Kathie Guthrie
Sarah Mansel
Andrew Mellen
Suzie Morley
Mike Norris
Timothy Passmore
Dr Daniel Pratt
Keith Scarff
Rowland Warboys
John Whitehead

Gerard Brewster
Terence Carter
Rachel Eburne
John Field
Jessica Fleming
Peter Gould
Matthew Hicks
John Matthissen
Richard Meyer
David Muller
Penny Otton
Stephen Phillips
Harry Richardson
Andrew Stringer
Keith Welham

In attendance:
Officers:

Chief Executive (AC)
Strategic Director (KN)
Corporate Manager - Strategic Planning (RH)
Corporate Manager - Democratic Services (JR)
Corporate Manager - Internal Audit (JS)

Apologies:
Wendy Turner
61

DECLARATION OF INTERESTS BY COUNCILLORS
61.1

62

There were no declarations of interests.

MC/19/23 TO CONFIRM THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 26
SEPTEMBER 2019
It was RESOLVED: That subject to the following amendments, the Minutes of the meeting held on
26 September 2019 be confirmed and signed as a true record:

Page 7

Paragraph 10.2 to 10.3: To expand on the response to the question from
Councillor Eburne.
NOTE: The response from the Leader to the above question was as follows:
“All the resources are done through the Growth Company, if there are any
more details required, I would like the officer to respond”
Paragraph 15.14: Change ‘Emergency Climate Change’ to Climate Emergency
Change’
Paragraph 15.13: Amend ‘re-wilderment’ to ‘rewilding’
Paragraph 10.37: Amend the first sentence to read: “Councillor Matthissen
asked why none of the information relating to the recent Cabinet report had
been forwarded to Members”.
63

64

MC/19/24 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS
63.1

The Chair referred to paper MC/19/24, which was for noting.

63.2

She invited all Members to the Civic Service at Fressingfield Church at
3:30pm on the 8 December.

63.3

Councillor Phillips informed Members that the Vice-Chair had not attended
the Needham Market Civic Service as detailed in the paper.

MC/19/25 LEADER'S ANNOUNCEMENTS
64.1

The Chair invited the Leader to present her tabled updates.

64.2

Councillor Morley referred to the Tabled Papers and updated Members on the
following:

64.3

Success of recent Needham Lake drop in and launch of plans
In October, the Council shared blueprints for the Needham Lake visitor
centre which was being developed to create a high quality and
environmentally sustainable building including a café and new public
convenience facilities. This included a drop-in event on Thursday 10 October
at Needham Market Community Centre. A survey was also carried out at the
event and had continued to be promoted on social media. The plans
complemented the rural nature of the site and aims to boost the number of
visitors to the Lake each year, supporting the local economy and
encouraging more people to enjoy a range of outdoor leisure pursuits. High
quality, innovative tenants were now being encouraged to bid to manage the
new visitor centre and café.

64.4

Thank you and success of National Democracy Week, including our
Councillor webinar

Page 8

The Leader thanked everyone who took part in National Democracy Week.
During the week, Councillors talked to groups they don’t often see in the
Council Chamber. The week commenced with a panel of Members from both
Councils holding an hour-long live webinar with pupils at Thurston
Community College. Members covered a range of topics, from planning to
litter picking, responding to questions sent in live by the pupils watching.
Later in the week, staff and Councillors set out to local markets to speak with
people about what the Council does and how it shapes our communities,
giving market-goers in Stowmarket the chance to ask questions, find out
more about services and discover what local government meant for them.
64.5

Success of National Customer Services Week and the launch of our new
Customer Charter
Having identified the Council’s customers as one of the Council’s five core
values during National Customer Services Week the Customer Charter was
launched, which set out the clear standards which the Council expected of
staff, and what the Council’s customers expected from Members.
Importantly, customers were not just residents, but anyone the Councils
interacted with to deliver its services. This included Councillors, colleagues,
businesses, partners, local authorities, suppliers or others. The week saw
staff and Councillors challenged to update their profile, add a voicemail
among other tasks, with stories shared from staff based in the Council’s call
centres, making it clear to all employees, that customers were central to the
work undertaken every day, and by making sure there were a clear set of
guidelines about what the Council’s customers should expect from the
Council, consistency in approach, monitoring of performance, get better at
listening to customer feedback and improve services.

64.6

Councillor Open Evening at the Mix in Stowmarket on 12th November
A reminder to all Councillors of the open evening held at the Mix in
Stowmarket on 12th November. All Councillors were invited to attend and
hear about the ways in which staff at the Mix were working to support young
people.

64.7

Recycle Week & Empty Home Week Social Media Campaign
During Recycle Week, the Council ran a series of social media posts
throughout the week to get residents thinking about how they could reduce
waste and recycle better. The posts included daily challenges where
answers could be found on the Suffolk Recycling website. Please do
encourage residents to access the recycling dos, do nots and tips online via
the Suffolk Recycling website. Groups, whether they were neighbours,
community clubs or other could also sign up for free education sessions.

64.8

Empty Homes Week
Empty Homes Week saw the Council encouraging residents to report empty
homes in the district as well as seeking out the Council’s empty homes

Page 9

interest free loans of up to £20,000 if they themselves owned an empty
home.
Extension of Holiday Free Swims
Following successful take up this summer, the free swim programme for
under 17s during this October half term and the Christmas holidays would be
extended. This would help to promote healthy and active lifestyles in Mid
Suffolk. Free swims were available at Mid Suffolk Leisure Centre in
Stowmarket and Stradbroke Swimming Pool and Fitness Centre.
64.9

Former MSDC HQ Needham - Building Work Begins
The Planning for a total of 135 new homes were approved in February, on
both the former HQ offices and former Needham Market Middle School site.
Building work was due to begin later this year and should be completed by
the end of 2020.

64.10 Tree for Life Promotion
A continuation to promote the Tree for Life scheme in Mid Suffolk, which saw
parents and carers of all newborn or newly adopted children in 2019 able to
apply for a free tree. This was ahead of this year’s deadline in January. The
scheme also included an option to apply for a memorial tree for parents who
have sadly lost a child during the same period. We will be contacting
successful applicants early next year to confirm when they can choose and
collect their tree.
64.11 In response to Councillor Carter’s question, the Chief Executive responded
that it was possible to follow the Council’s activities and Councillors on social
media.
64.12 In response to Councillor Eburne’s question regarding the Leader’s
Announcements, the Leader advised that the announcements would be
delivered when they became available.
64.13 Councillor Eburne asked how many social homes and affordable homes have
been built on that site (Former Needham Market HQ), to which a response
would be delivered outside of the meeting.
64.14 Councillor Stringer enquired about the Government’s Public Loan Board and
the recent announcement of an increase in interest rates and whether this
would have an impact on the Council’s social housing building programme
and the investment programme.
64.15 The Leader responded that the Cabinet Member for Finance and the S151
Officer were currently working through the information provided by Central
Government.

Page 10

65

TO RECEIVE NOTIFICATION OF PETITIONS IN ACCORDANCE WITH COUNCIL
PROCEDURE RULES
65.1

The Deputy Monitoring Officer advised the Council that the following validated
petition had been received:
87 valid signatures regarding planning application DC/19/01236 in Norton.

65.2
66

The petition would be dealt with through the normal planning process.

QUESTIONS BY THE PUBLIC IN ACCORDANCE WITH COUNCIL PROCEDURE
RULES
66.1 None received.

67

QUESTIONS BY COUNCILLORS
PROCEDURE RULES
67.1

68

69

IN

ACCORDANCE

WITH

COUNCIL

None received.

MC/19/26 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT
68.1

The Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee referred to report
MC/19/26 and invited Members to ask questions;

68.2

Councillor Otton referred to the recent review of the Community Infrastructure
Levy (CIL) and congratulated on the report provided to the Committee and
the scrutiny of the topic.

68.3

Councillor Otton hoped that the Scrutiny Committee would review how the
Council dealt with CIL bids strategically in the new year.

MC/19/27 CORPORATE PLAN (2019-2027)
69.1

Councillor Morley, the Leader of the Council, introduced report MC/19/27,
Corporate Plan (2019 – 2027) which had been undertaken in cooporation
with Babergh District Council.

69.2

The current strategic plan was due to expire in 2020 and it was the intention
that the proposed new Corporate Plan would be replacing the Joint Strategic
plan. Appendix A provided a summary of the development of the revised
corporate plan.

69.3

The draft Corporate Plan had been supported by the Senior Leadership Team
and officers across both Councils and required the approval of both Cabinets
and Councils. The new Corporate Plan provided a joint vision for the future
of the District and addressed opportunities and challenges facing the Council
in the foreseeable future.

Page 11

69.4

The revised vison and new mission statement would provide more confident
leadership for the area through greater place-based workings.
The
interconnected strategic priorities were the Environment, the Economy,
Housing, Well-being, Our Customers and Communities.

69.5

The Corporate values were included in the plan to ensure that they were part
of the objectives which benefitted communities and residents in the District.

69.6

Councillor Morley asked that if the Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny
Committee agreed that Corporate Plan Outputs be brought to the Overview
and Scrutiny Committee for discussion and debate before being presented
for approval at Cabinet.

69.7

Councillor Morley MOVED recommendation 3.1, which was SECONDED by
Councillor Caston.

69.8

Councillor Morley invited the Chief Executive to present the Corporate Plan to
the Council.

69.9

After the presentation Councillor Eburne enquired how to explain this plan
and its tactics to residents as the document related to Councillors and
officers as the stakeholders but did not include residents. She stated that
not all Councillors had been involved in the recent work undertaken to
refresh the plan and that she felt that all Members should have been part of
a consultation process before being presented with the Draft Corporate Plan.

69.10 The Chief Executive responded that this document was not primarily intended
to be presented to residents but to be used by Councillors and officers as a
simple plan setting out the tactical strategy to help them engage with
communities. Fundamentally residents were less likely to be interested in
the tactics but more likely to be interested in the outcome of the plan.
69.11 Councillor Eburne queried the engagement aspect of her previous question
and she felt that it was all premature as there had not been an engagement
or consultation for this plan, nor had the plan been to the Scrutiny Committee
for scrutiny.
69.12 The Chief Executive responded that engagement with Communities had been
undertaken in the form of the recent housing and community strategies and
that Members had a daily dialogue with communities through the work they
undertook in their wards. As the Corporate Plan built on the previous Joint
Strategic Plan, a framework had already been constructed to begin with. It
was a balance between engagement with communities of what they wanted,
and the community leadership role provided by Councillors.
69.13 Councillor Passmore stated that this was a high-level strategy and asked how
the layers underneath would be developed and what method would be used
to feed into the plan.

Page 12

69.14 The Chief Executive explained that there were two main components which
were part of the delivery method of the plan; the customer components and
the community components. He then explained how this work would be
undertaken and how this fitted into the framework.
69.15 Councillor Field stated that previously Members had been involved in Member
workshops and enquired why this had not happened this time.
69.16 The Chief Executive explained that work from the previous Corporate Plan
was still part of this refreshed plan. The priority was to get solutions to
undertake work which would benefit communities. This plan had many
components and required officers to understand and engage with the
strategic tactics. This would be achieved by conducting work with staff to
engage and support the strategic plan to bring it forward.
69.17 Councillor Carter asked for clarification of the cross-party work conducted for
the Corporate Plan.
69.18 The Chief Executive responded that Mid Suffolk Cabinet and Babergh
Cabinet had been involved with the work on the plan, the latter consisting of
Conservatives, Independents and Liberal Democrats.
69.19 Councillor Humphrey asked if lessons learnt from past failures were fed into a
matrix to make it more efficient.
69.20 The Chief Executive explained that there existed a combination of
measurements; proactively through the Project and Programme
Management programme and reactively through the Risk Management
Register which included lessons learnt from completed projects. If Members
were interested to be more involved in this part of the process they could be.
69.21 Councillor Scarff asked for clarification of why there had not been a crossparty involvement for Mid Suffolk and the Leader responded that this was a
refreshed plan and the previous plan had included cross-party engagement.
This was a Cabinet administration plan and would be going to the Scrutiny
which would allow Members to be involved at that stage.
69.22 Councillor Welham asked the following questions:
1. Would the plan be flexible enough to allow for a change in leadership;
2. With reference to the cross-party issues, please could an explanation
be provided for how the views of the majority of voters were to be
represented, if the Mid Suffolk Cabinet did not involve all parties in
this process. He felt it was not for the Scrutiny Committee to provide
this part of the engagement;
3. The Vison to build great communities were presented in the Corporate
Plan but who’s vision was being represented in this part of the plan,
was it the cross-party group’s or the officers’ vision;
4. If the document was available for offices, stakeholders and staff, what
document would be available for service users and residents.

Page 13

5. Was Community strategies part of the strategy, as it was not included
in the diagram?
69.23

The Chief Executive responded to the questions as follows:
1. The Corporate Plan was flexible enough, but he expected that if there
was a change in administration then the Corporate Plan would also
change, as each administration would like to shape the Corporate
plan to reflect their vision.
2/3. The vision was delivered by Babergh and Mid Suffolk Cabinets and not
officers.
4. Everything the Council did was for the benefit of its residents.
However, the Corporate Plan had not been produced for residents, as
it had not been created as a tool for residents to use. Residents could
look at the plan online if they wished or view the Power Point
presentation on You Tube.
5. Each priority on ‘the Wheel’ was underpinned with a strategy so the
Community Strategy was included in the Corporate Plan.

69.24 Councillor Mellen asked that the sentence on the ‘Vision’ part of the Strategy
be revised as the syntax was unclear.
69.25 Members debated the issues of the Corporate Plan and Councillor Stringer
began by stating he was frustrated with the document. He understood the
idea of a mission statement but 50% of the Council had not been included in
the vision for the Council and he found this insulting. He also had issues
regarding paragraph 4.3, as he thought there had been a confident
leadership since 2003. However, he felt that the document did not underpin
the purpose of the work of the Council nor did he feel that the document
would solve the issues of culture within the organisation. This was a missed
opportunity to deliver a document to inspire the workforce and residents.
69.26 Councillor Mansel appreciated the visual representation of the Corporate Plan
and explained to Members that she had been part of the previous
incarnation of the plan and remembered the work undertaken then. She
thought this had been a useful exercise for all Members. She therefore felt
that it was wrong that there not been any involvement of 50% of Members for
this refreshed Corporate Plan and who now felt that they did not have any
ownership of this plan.
69.27 Councillor Eburne agreed with Councillor Mansel and was disappointed that
the had been no workshops, engagement with the community, consultations
or a taskforce to involve colleagues or residents. She thought that even if
the plan would be reviewed it would not serve the people it involved, and she
thought that the Corporate Plan should be deferred until a consultation
across the District could take place.
69.28 Councillor Passmore specified that the previous work and consultation were
still part of the plan documentation which he thought was good. There would
be opportunities for all Members to be part of the development of Mid Suffolk

Page 14

District though the various projects and working groups and he asked that
Members maintained a positive attitude towards this plan.
69.29 Councillor Richardson stated that Members were debating the process of how
the plan had been put together and not the substance or the content of the
Plan. The relationship between sport and leisure and the wider health and
wellbeing should not be understated. It was important that these issues be
developed with the Councils’ Partners in Suffolk and Northeast Essex STP,
who had similar plans and priorities which tied in with Public Health. The
Council could look at this as part of the Health and Wellbeing Strategy, and
he thought Members should engage with these important issues. He thought
the plan contained further aspects which were good, and he was in favour of
the plan.
69.30 Councillor Hicks agreed with Councillor Richardson, and he was disappointed
in the critical view of the opposition, whom he thought opposed the plan for
the sake of it. He thought it was a good plan, which detailed the foundation
on which the administration could move forward.
69.31 Councillor Humphreys supported the plan and he thought that the plan
contained everything the Council needed to do and was not contentious.
69.32 Councillor Matthissen would not be supporting the plan and drew Members’
attention to the use of the word ‘customers’ for residents in the Corporate
Plan. He felt this was an unsuitable use in this context.
69.33 Councillor Geake referred to Councillor Humphrey’s statement and agreed
that the plan was not contentious because there was very little in the plan
and that the recommendation did not make any sense. She felt that the
Corporate Plan was not a corporate plan but a framework to develop a
corporate plan around. She had researched the previous corporate plan but
thought that corporate outcome, service plans, staff strategy and so on was
missing. She felt that the corporate plan was a visual representation of the
framework for a corporate plan but had not been presented to Members as
such. She was also concerned about the issues around how to explain this
Corporate plan to members of the public.
69.34 Councillor Mansel appreciated the visualisation of the Corporate plan,
however she thought that environmental sustainability was missing, despite
there being a theme of the environment, which she did not believe were the
same issues. Since the Council had declared a climate emergency, she
thought that environmental sustainability should be all encompassing in the
plan and she would like to MOVE an AMENDMENT, which was tabled for
Members:
That Council adopts a draft corporate plan (2019 – 2027) based on the
visual representation shown in paragraph 4.5, but with the inclusion of an
environmental sustainability theme (including, but not limited to, resource
management, transport, built environment, biodiversity, etc) which underpins
all activity within the Council in line with the climate emergency declared on

Page 15

July 27th 2019. The final design of the corporate plan is to be agreed by the
three group leaders in advance of publication.
69.35 Councillor Pratt SECONDED the proposed Amendment.
69.36 The Chair asked Councillor Morley whether she accepted the Amendment,
which Councillor Morley did not.
69.37 Members then debated the Amendment and Councillor Passmore said he
understood the principles of the amendment but felt that this would restrict
the work too much, he questioned what happened if the three group leaders
did not agree. He did not support the Amendment.
69.38 Councillor Stringer said that this was an attempt to work with the
administration which had been mentioned previously. The Amendment was
trying to make the Council truly environmentally sustainable and would
prevent the Council from losing sight of the aim. He supported Amendment.
69.39 Councillor Fleming had sympathy with the idea of incorporating environmental
issues into everything the Council did, but the Council already had the
environment as one of its main visions. Environmental stewardship came
through everything the Council did and would be clear when the taskforce
had completed its work.
69.40 Councillor Eburne thought that the environment should be placed between
the Local Plan and the Strategies in the visual representation as that the
Amendment was vitally important. The Environment strand ran through
everything the Council did for the benefit of residents including housing,
community activities and development. Therefore, Environment should be
included in the plan, and she supported the Amendment.
69.41 Councillor Richardson was sceptical about the Amendment and thought that
there were two issues. Firstly, the issues around environmental sustainability
and the principle of this. The environmental strategy was still emerging, and
it was not for the Council to define this in advance. He thought that if the
strategy in the Corporate Plan was not sustainable then the Plan would have
no value, which it clearly did. He thought that better understanding of the
sustainability would be apparent once understanding of the outcome of the
task forces would be available.
69.42 The second part of the Amendment was also a concern for Councillor
Richardson. He thought that the agreement of the three group leaders would
limit the decision-making process of the Council due to the split of the
political groups. He explained that even if there was a majority for a
proposal, but the group leaders were not in agreement then the proposal
would not be approved. He stated that this was an undemocratic process
and he could therefore not support the Amendment.
69.43 Councillor Geake clarified why the environment was different to any other
strategy in the Corporate Plan. The Council had acknowledged this in the

Page 16

Climate Emergency which was announced on the 27 July 2019. The Climate
Emergency underpinned everything the Council did, which was why it was
such an important part of the Corporate Plan.
69.44 Councillor Humphreys understood the principle and the thought behind the
amendment, but he did not agree with part of the three group leaders’
approval of proposals and he could therefore not support the Amendment on
the basis of a breakdown of democracy.
69.45 Councillor Geake asked as a point of order if the wording in the Amendment
could be changed to accommodate the points made by Members.
69.46 The Deputy Monitoring Officer advised that each Amendment had to be put to
Members separately, but should this Amendment fall, another Amendment
could be tabled.
69.47 Councillor Ekpenyong agreed that the Climate Emergency would be
influencing activities that the Council undertook to take the Council forward.
He thought that if the Council did not have sustainable planning and actions
the work conducted by the Council would not be viable for communities, for
him sustainability was embedded in all achievements of the Council and he
could not support the Amendment.
69.48 Councillor Warboys referred to paragraph 10 in relation to the Amendment.
He thought there was confusion around the issues and that the environment
was not a building block, everything the Council did had carbon emissions,
and this should be audited and should be the framework on which to build
the work of the Council. The environment should encircle the framework in
the visual representation, therefore he supported the Amendment.
69.49 Councillor Pratt addressed some of the issues and wondered if Members
agreed that sustainability was part of everything the Council undertook then
why not agree the Amendment. The Corporate Plan was a framework.
69.50 Councillor Field PROPOSED that the Council moved on to voting on the
Amendment and Councillor Phillips SECONDED this proposal.
69.51 All Members agreed to vote on the Amendment.
69.52 The Amendment was put to Members for voting and the vote was LOST
69.53 The Substantiated PROPOSAL was put to Members for voting and the vote
was CARRIED.
It was RESOLVED: That the Council adopts the draft corporate plan (2019 – 2027) as visually
presented in paragraph 4.5 to replace the refreshed Joint Strategic Plan (2016
– 2020).

Page 17

70

MC/19/28 HAUGHLEY NEIGHBOURHOOD DEVELOPMENT PLAN
70.1

Councillor Burn, Cabinet Member for Planning, introduced report MC/19/28
and summarised the main points of the report and the process undertaken
for the referendum. He referred to paragraph 4 which detailed the
referendum and said that the results would be posted on the Council’s
website. He offered his congratulation to all who had been involved in the
work for Haughley Neighbourhood Plan and MOVED recommendations 3.1
and 3.2 in the report.

70.2

Councillor Eburne SECONDED the proposal and congratulated all who had
been involved. The work had involved thousands of hours of work, most of
which had been undertaken by volunteers. She reiterated that more
resource was need for communities to undertake work such as this plan, but
she congratulated the community of Haughley in its achievement. Councillor
Eburne also thanked officers who had supported the work.

70.3

Councillor Stringer thanked all the volunteers for the work and reiterated that
these neighbourhood plans would be empowering tools to allow residents to
decide where sustainable housing development should be placed within their
communities.

70.4

The PROPOSAL was put to Members for voting and the vote was
UNANIMOUS.

It was RESOLVED: -

71

1.1

That the Hughley Neighbourhood Plan be formally ‘made’ (adopted) as
part of the District Council’s Development Plan and be used to help
determine planning applications where relevant.

1.2

That the Decision Statement (Appendix 1) be published with immediate
effect.

MC/19/29 THURSTON NEIGHBOURHOOD DEVELOPMENT PLAN
70.1

Councillor Burn, Cabinet Member for Planning, introduced report MC/19/29
and summarised the main points of the report. He referred to paragraph 4
which detailed the referendum and said that the results would be posted on
the Council’s website. He offered his congratulations to all who had been
involved in the work for Thurston Neighbourhood Plan and MOVED
recommendations 3.1 and 3.2 in the report.

71.1

Councillor Richardson SECONDED the proposal and he thanked all who had
worked on the production of this plan in particular Thurston Parish Council.
This was a thorough plan and offered benefits to the community and its
residents.

71.2

In Councillors Turner’s absence Councillor Mansel responded on her behalf
and thanked all who had worked on Thurston Neighbourhood Plan.

Page 18

71.3

The PROPOSAL was put to Members for voting and the vote was
UNANIMOUS.

It was RESOLVED: -

72

1.1

That the Thurston Neighbourhood Plan be formally ‘made’ (adopted) as
part of the District Council’s Development Plan and be used to help
determine planning applications where relevant.

1.2

That the Decision Statement (Appendix 1) be published with immediate
effect.

COUNCILLOR APPOINTMENTS
72.1

Councillor Morley proposed that the following appointments be agreed for the
Community Governance Review Working Group:
Councillor Suzie Morley (replacing Councillor Julie Flatman)
Councillor John Whitehead (replacing Councillor James Caston)
The PROPOSAL was put to Members for the vote and the vote was
UNANIMOUS.
It was RESOLVED: That Councillor Suzie Morley and Councillor John Whitehead be
appointed to the Community Governance Review Working Group.

The business of the meeting was concluded at 7.33 pm.
……………………………………..
Chair

Page 19

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 4
MC/19/31
MID SUFFOLK DISTRICT COUNCIL CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS
COUNCIL - 23 JANUARY 2020

EVENT

LOCATION

DATE CHAIRMAN

VICE
CHAIR

NOVEMBER 2019
Rose Garden Memorials
Remembrance Services in Abbey
Gardens

The Rose Garden,
Abbey Gardens, Bury St
Edmunds
09-Nov

Stowmarket Remembrance Breakfast,
Parade, Service and Wreath laying
ceremony
Stowmarket

10-Nov

Fressingfield Remembrance Parade
and Service

Fressingfield

10-Nov

Royal Visit by HRH The Princess
Royal

Livability Icanho,
Stowmarket

12-Nov

Eucharist Service led by the Bishop
of Dunwich

St Peter & St Paul,
Green Street, Hoxne

20-Nov

Christmas Visit to MSDC Sheltered
Housing Schemes

St Peter's Court,
Claydon

26-Nov

West Suffolk Council Civic Carol
Service

St Edmundsbury
Cathedral

02-Dec

Christmas Visit to MSDC Sheltered
Housing Schemes

Hurstlea Court,
Needham Market

05-Dec

MSDC Chairman's Civic Service

St Peter and St Paul’s
Church, Fressingfield

08-Dec

Chanukah Celebration

Town Hall, Ipswich

29-Dec

✓

✓

✓

DECEMBER 2019

Page 21

✓
✓
✓
✓

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9
MID SUFFOLK DISTRICT COUNCIL CABINET MEMBER UPDATE
From: Councillor Suzie Morley
Cabinet Member for Assets and
Investments

Report Number:

CMU10

To:

Date of meeting:

23 January 2020

Council

TO PROVIDE AN UPDATE FROM THE CABINET MEMBER FOR ASSETS &
INVESTMENTS
1.

Overview of Portfolio

1.1

This report summarises the key areas of activity since September and sets out the
priorities for the following 3 months.

2.

Recommendation

2.1

That Council notes the report.

3.

Key Activities since May
Company Activities MSDC (Suffolk Holdings) Limited, CIFCO Capital Limited,
Gateway 14 Ltd and Mid Suffolk Growth Limited

3.1

The Board of MSDC (Suffolk Holdings) Ltd has met twice since the last quarterly
report to Council in September. It has received a quarterly update from the Chairman
of CIFCO Capital Limited, a presentation in respect of the development delivery
model for Gateway 14, Mid Suffolk Growth updates and reviewed the company risk
register. It has also approved Gateway 14’s business goals and the proposed delivery
partner/model for the development of Gateway 14’s landholdings. The Council as
ultimate shareholder will be asked to approve the model and partner in February.

3.2

MSDC (Suffolk Holdings) Ltd has also adopted a new Code of Conduct for Company
Directors, which sets out the responsibilities and expectations for all directors and
seeks to embed the Councils’ values within all our companies.

3.3

Since September, the Board of CIFCO Capital Limited have agreed the purchase of
three investment assets subject to contract and satisfactory due diligence being
completed. The total value of these assets is approximately £15m and generate an
annual rent of approximately £950,000.

3.4

Mid Suffolk Growth has focused its efforts on the redevelopment of the former Mid
Suffolk Council HQ site in Needham Market. The first phase, comprising
approximately 30 units of social and market housing and a new convenience store,
has been fully designed and tendered. The preferred contractor has been selected
and works are due to start on site in February this year. In addition, Mid Suffolk
Growth completed the design of the new visitor centre at Needham Lakes and
submitted a planning application, which was approved by committee in December.

Page 23

3.5

Gateway 14 Limited have completed their negotiations with the preferred
development partner and instructed solicitors to negotiate the development
management agreement (subject to Council consent being obtained). The board has
issued a further Farm Business Tenancy for the land holdings to ensure that it is well
maintained prior to development commencing on site. It has also instructed UKPN to
commence the detailed design for the power connection to the Stowmarket East site.
Strategic Asset Management

3.6

A planning application was submitted and subsequently approved in December for
the change of use of approximately 2/3rds of the former Aldi premises at Gipping
Way, in Stowmarket. The tenant is due to complete the agreement for lease in
January with works commencing early in the New Year. It is anticipated that the gym
will be open and trading in the spring.

3.7

The lease of the proposed convenience store at the former HQ site in Needham
Market is due to complete by the end of January.

4.

Future Key Activities
Company Activities MSDC (Suffolk Holdings) Limited, CIFCO Capital Limited, Mid
Suffolk Growth Limited and Gateway 14 Limited.

4.1

MSDC (Suffolk Holdings) Ltd will continue to play an important role in the governance
of the trading companies over the next 3 months particularly in relation to the
drawdown of funds for acquisitions by CIFCO Capital, the commencement of
development works by Mid Suffolk Growth and the appointment of a delivery partner
and development of delivery strategies for Gateway 14 Limited. The board will also
consider the environmental impacts of the trading companies and seek to develop
policies to mitigate environmental impact.

4.2

CIFCO Capital Limited will be seeking to make further acquisitions and manage the
existing property portfolio in line with the aims of the 2019/2020 business plan. The
focus will be to complete the due diligence for the 3 properties currently under offer
by the end of January. The board will be holding their annual strategy day in March,
where they will review performance over the last 12 months and start to shape the
business plan for the forthcoming year.

4.3

Mid Suffolk Growth Ltd will be focusing on the delivery of the HQ site in Needham
Market with an expectation of works commencing on site in February/March 2020.
Mid Suffolk Growth will be progressing its development pipeline of development sites
for the future to meet its aspirations to develop 200 homes over the next 3 years.
Strategic Asset Management

4.4

Oversee the works to the Former Aldi building in Stowmarket and commence
marketing of the remaining 1/3 of the premises.

4.5

Develop an asset management plan for consultation in the Spring and scope a data
project to enable the more efficient use and management of the Council’s property
estate.

Page 24

4.6

Agree a strategy for the long-term use of the Former Natwest building in Stowmarket.

4.7

Work with Stowmarket Sports and Social CIC (incorporating the Football Club) and
the adjacent landowner to restructure their lease arrangements to enable the Football
club to secure further funding from the Football Association for on site works.

4.8

Identify opportunities to acquire land for residential development within the district to
support the social housing programme and Mid Suffolk Growth’s business plan
housing development aspirations.

4.9

Identify income producing investment opportunities within the District which have a
strategic and financial benefit to the Council to meet the aspirations of the Strategic
Property Fund which was established last year.

Page 25

This page is intentionally left blank

MID SUFFOLK DISTRICT COUNCIL CABINET MEMBER UPDATE
From: Councillor Suzie Morley
Leader of the Council

Report Number:

CMU11

To:

Date of meeting:

23 January 2020

Council

TO PROVIDE AN UPDATE ON THE LAW AND GOVERNANCE PORTFOLIO
1.

Overview of Portfolio

1.1

The Law & Governance group comprises Audit & Risk Management, Democratic
Services, Information Management and the Shared Legal Services. The Assistant
Director is also the Councils’ Monitoring Officer and the section therefore plays a
critical role in supporting the work of the MO.

1.2

The Law & Governance teams are predominantly support services and contribute to
the delivery of the Corporate Plan by providing professional support and advice to all
other service areas. The teams have an essential role in maintaining and promoting
good governance throughout the organisation.

2.

Recommendation

2.1

That Council notes the report.

3.

Key Activities/Issues Over the Past Three Months

3.1

Elections
Over the last 3 months all electoral resources have been focused on the delivery of
the UK Parliamentary Election (UKPGE). The elections were successfully delivered
in partnership with counterparts from East and West Suffolk.

3.2

Annual Canvass and Publication of the Register of Electors
The revised register was published on the 1st December 2019.The canvass return
was lower than previously due to resources being diverted to the delivery of the
UKPGE. Nonetheless, as a result of increased registration prior to the UKPGE the
register is assessed to be more accurate than following a normal annual canvass.
The performance measure will need to be reviewed following the implementation of
the Canvass Reform during the 2020 canvass.
Neighbourhood Planning Referenda (NPR) and Elections planning
Alongside preparation for the UKPGE Electoral services delivered multiple NPRs
during November and December. Planning and preparation has already commenced
for the planned Police and Crime Commissioner elections on Thursday 7 th May 2020.

Page 27

4.

Audit and Governance

4.1

As the Councils’ Delivery Programme continued to reshape and transform services,
Internal Audit has provided assurance, support and guidance on a diverse range of
activities, including ensuring that key controls continue to be maintained during the
management review. In line with the Councils’ Internal Audit Charter the work was
conducted to ensure that it delivers against the PSIAS and the requirement to
produce an annual Head of Internal Audit opinion. In doing this it can be confirmed
that the work conducted covered the following activities:







Governance processes
Monitoring
Ethics
Information and Information technology governance
Risk Management
Fraud management

4.2

As a result of a retirement, and also a successful internal job application for career
development reasons by another member of the Internal Audit Team, at the time of
writing this report resources are temporarily reduced.
Following a recent
unsuccessful external recruitment campaign, the Corporate Manager for Internal
Audit is considering a number of options with senior management. Other Authorities
have experienced similar recruitment challenges in this area of work. Work is being
prioritised on a risk-led basis to ensure that coverage and the consequent annual
audit opinion are not compromised.

5.

Monitoring Office

5.1

The Monitoring Officer is a statutory appointment pursuant to section 5 of the Local
Government and Housing Act 1989.

5.2

The Joint Audit Standards Committee is responsible for ensuring that District and
Town/Parish Councillors in B&MSDCs are aware of the standards of conduct
expected of them and that they observe those standards. To this effect, the Deputy
Monitoring Officers have recently been involved in providing a number of training
sessions at Parish and Town Council level on the Code of Conduct to raise
awareness and remind Councillors of their responsibilities. Feedback has been very
positive and, where appropriate, this will continue.

6.

Legal Services

6.1

The Legal Service Partnership has recently participated in a Gateway Review
designed to focus on the establishment, operations and the future of the service. This
was with a view to providing key learning that can be used in the implementation of
other similar local authority shared services’ arrangements, together with
recommendations for the local shared service as part of its continued development.

7.

Governance and Civic Office

7.1

National Democracy Week ran from the 14th October 2019 until the 18th October 2019
and activities were held across both councils. Schools were invited to take part in a
webinar with councillors and officers.

Page 28

Thurston school accepted the invitation and submitted questions for councillors and
officers to answer, which covered a wide range of key issues. The event was
streamed live. Councillors, the Governance Team and Waste Services engaged with
residents during National Democracy Week by setting up market stalls in Stowmarket
and Sudbury town centres.
7.2

Paperless Committee Meetings – Twenty- three councillors across both councils
have registered their devices to receive full sets of committee papers. Members
wishing to register their devices should contact the Member Support Officer
mandy.smith@baberghmidsuffolk to arrange a 1-2-1. Members that have not
registered will not be able to access the confidential papers at committee.

7.3

Civic Office - the Chair of Mid Suffolk held a charity hog roast in August 2019. The
event was well supported and over £600 was raised for the Chair’s chosen charity.

The Chair’s Civic Service was held on the 8th December 2019 at Fressingfield with
over 75 people in attendance.

Page 29

This page is intentionally left blank

MID SUFFOLK DISTRICT COUNCIL CABINET MEMBER UPDATE
From: Councillor Julie Flatman
Cabinet Member for Communities

Report Number:

CMU12

To:

Date of meeting:

23 January 2020

Council

TO PROVIDE AN UPDATE FROM THE CABINET MEMBER FOR COMMUNITIES
1.

Overview of Portfolio:
The Communities Portfolio includes:

1.1

Safe Communities (including community safety, anti-social behaviour, safeguarding
and the Community Safety Partnership).

1.2

Strong Communities (including grants, external funding, community development and
community rights).

1.3

Healthy Communities and Policy (including health and wellbeing, Health and
Wellbeing Board, health interventions and preventative activity).

2.

Recommendation

2.1

That Council notes the report.

3.

Key Activities/Issues Over the Past Six Months

3.1

The grants team has conducted site visits in Mid Suffolk to discuss potential
community projects and sources of funding including the following: Rickinghall
Wheeled Sports Area - to develop a new skateboard/BMX park; Eye Cricket Club to upgrade pavilion and players changing rooms; Denham Village Hall - wholesale
redevelopment of the village hall; Creeting St Mary Village Hall - to replace current
heating system; Walsham Le Willows Play Area - a three phase project to replace old
playground equipment; and Eye Moors Skatepark and Play Area - to replace and
upgrade a children’s play area.

3.2

Where appropriate joint site visits are conducted with officers from the Public Realm
team for play and open space projects to provide potential applicants with advice and
guidance on types of equipment and British Safety Standards. The team is also
working with the Environmental Management Officer, to provide energy efficiency
assessments for village halls and sports pavilions.

3.3

Section 106 funding has been provided to support the Thurston gym trail and the
Needham Market public toilets project and the Museum of East Anglian Life secured
capital funding for equipment to further its community activity.

3.4

The External Funding Officer continues to provide support to the Needham Lake
Visitor Centre group and the associated Access for All Needham Train Station bid.
Support is also being provided for a project focused on future funding for Stowmarket
Trees and Lights via a National Lottery Partnership Fund bid.
Page 31

3.5

The External Funding Officer and Communities Officer- Assets of Community Value
have been working with the Cross Keys at Redgrave and the Angel Inn at Debenham
as part of supporting the networking and sustainability of the community pub sector.

3.6

The Community Grants review has commenced, with a Member Task and Finish
Group established to guide the work. The first phase will review the capital grants
scheme, informed by looking at the recommendations arising from the recent CIL
review as both are relevant to the funding of community infrastructure.

3.7

Chill Chat and Play: BMSDC have project funded Home Start (Mid and West Suffolk)
working in partnership with Suffolk Arts Link to deliver this project in Stowmarket with
parents with children under the age of 1 year. This project is gaining momentum with
five families now regularly attending the sessions in Stowmarket and 5 families being
supported at home. Home Start Staff and Volunteers have received Art Therapy
training during November 2019 which they are able to cascade onto new staff and
volunteers as well as taking this training into the homes of parents who are not in a
position to attend the sessions due to their particular vulnerabilities.

3.8

The Active Wellbeing project: This project is supporting older residents to become
more physically active and is progressing well. The project has now completed its
first 3 months of year 2 of delivery. The Project Officers (Health & Wellbeing) have
been working collaboratively with the surgeries and the community via an asset
based community development approach and applying the learning from the first year
to help make the most out of the 12 months in this location. The impact that health
professionals have on identifying those patients most at need is very important for
the Active Wellbeing service.
The project has seen 40 clients with an average of
61 years and good links are being developed with the Patients Participation Group
(PPG). 58% of clients report they feel closer to other people and less lonely then they
were before the intervention commenced. The Steering group continues to meet
every 2 months with a new Fit Villages yoga project being delivered shortly.

3.9

The Active Schools project: Launched in July 2019, this three-year programme is
designed to reduce childhood obesity/excess weight amongst primary school age
children by providing bespoke support to 20 primary schools across both districts,
helping them to better utilise their DfE Pupil Premium Funding for physical activity.
Sample Interventions offered as part of the programme include active travel plans,
healthy food awareness, extra-curricular clubs, Teacher Continuous Professional
Development, Active classrooms and whole school activities such as the Daily Mile.

3.10

Regal Theatre Redevelopment Programme: The tender process is nearing
completion with building work anticipated to commence in Spring 2020. Stowmarket
Town Council and MSDC have submitted an information pack to the Ministry of
Housing, Communities & Local Government to support the application of borrowing
approval between the district and town councils for grant and loan funding and we
are currently awaiting the outcome of this.

3.11

John Peel Centre, Stowmarket: Architects EDRM and arts consultant Marion Catlin
have been appointed to develop a feasibility study and business plan for the future
development of the John Peel Centre including the expansion into 11 Market Place
(old NatWest Bank). The outcome of this work is expected to be delivered by early
2020.

Page 32

3.12

Social Prescribing across both District areas: Social Prescribing Schemes are now
active across the Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG area and are currently being
developed across the areas covered by the West Suffolk CCG.

3.13

The team have initiated a new approach by applying the Healthy Towns Programme
which is an NHS England initiative which sets out the 10 Principles for Healthy Place
making. Working in partnership with Public Health Suffolk we have set up a series of
lunchtime seminars with BMSDC Planning colleagues to review the evidence from
ten demonstrator sites and look at are working on a range of other activities and
rather than seeking to cover it all within this report an All Member briefing on all
aspects of Health and wellbeing related work to highlight significant contribution the
Councils’ are making to this agenda.

4.

Key Activities Planned for the next 3 months

4.1

The External Funding Officer will be supporting funding surgeries in our communities
in collaboration with Suffolk County Council. Dates and locations have not yet been
finalised but will be communicated to Councillors in due course.

4.2

There will be a period of refocusing of the grants service as two new postholders take
up post and are tasked with reviewing the current arrangements in the light of the
Council’s priorities, the Communities Strategy and need to maximise the efficiency
and effectiveness of the service. The Grants Review Member Working Group will
continue to meet.

4.3

Reports were provided to Mid Suffolk Cabinet meeting in January, where rolling 3
year funding arrangements for Citizens Advice was agreed.

4.4

Working with Suffolk Artlink, Rural Coffee Caravan and Dance East, officers will
continue to deliver a project reaching rurally isolated older people to make a positive
impact on their lives. The work will focus on delivering a high-quality arts outreach
programme, led by artists. It will be co-produced with older people, to ensure that the
individual needs of each community are reflected in the work. What we are calling the
‘The Make, Do and Friends’ project has involved £100k of Arts Council ‘Celebrating
Age’ Funding.

4.5

We will continue to work in partnership to contribute to enabling community-level
health and wellbeing outcomes, particularly in relation to the development of leisure,
physical activity, the arts, sports and natural environment for their health benefits.
Highlights have included development of GP exercise on referral schemes, high
profile walking, running and cycling initiatives and a range of healthy lifestyle and later
life programmes. Other activities have included those linked to the Dementia Action
Alliances, as well as providing local support for national events and campaigns that
address the related issues of loneliness, social isolation and mental health.

4.6

Suffolk Food Plan: This is a very new project, currently in development, aiming to
work in partnership with Suffolk Public Health and the Museum of East Anglian Life
to deliver a local healthy eating, less food waste programme in Stowmarket. Current
ideas are linking with using the Museum’s garden and looking at growing vegetables,
as well as possible cookery classes.

Page 33

4.7

Work also continues to address anti-social behaviour and other community safety
issues and support the work of the Western Suffolk Community Safety Partnership.

4.8

We welcome Vicky Moseley to the team and the organisation as the new Corporate
Manager - Communities.

Page 34

MID SUFFOLK DISTRICT COUNCIL CABINET MEMBER UPDATE
From: Councillor Suzie Morley
Cabinet Member for Customers,
Digital Transformation & Improvement

Report Number:

To:

Date of meeting:

Council

CMU13
23 January 2020

TO PROVIDE AN UPDATE FROM THE CABINET MEMBER FOR CUSTOMERS,
DIGITAL TRANSFORMATION & IMPROVEMENT
1.0

Overview of Portfolio

1.1

The Customers, Digital Transformation & Improvement Portfolio encompasses
Customer Services, Digital Transformation & Improvement, Information and
Communication Technology (ICT) and Communications. Since October we have
started our Customer Transformation Programme focusing on gathering customer
insight to inform solutions as well as engaging across the organisation with service
teams to understand their priorities. A summary of activity that has taken place
across the four teams over the last few months is as follows.

2.0

Recommendation

2.1

That Council notes the report.

3.0

Key activities since October 19

3.1

Customer Services

3.2

Performance from Q2 to Q3 has improved by 2% from an average of 87% of calls
answered in Q2 to 89% of calls answered in Q3. The call volumes have increased
from Q2 to Q3 by 9%.

3.3

In Q2 58% of our calls were answered in 30 seconds. Across Q3, 60% of the calls
were answered within 30 seconds.

3.4

Our average wait time has reduced from an average of 1 minute 42 seconds in Q2
to an average of 1 minute 35 seconds in Q3.

3.5

Over Q3 we have seen 2,265 customers across Stowmarket, Sudbury, Shotley and
Hadleigh and of those customers they have rated us 9.6 out of 10 for levels of
customer service provided, which was an increase from 9.5 in Q2. Of those
customers, we scored an 88% first time resolution rate.

3.6

We have now completed the refresh of our customer access point in Stowmarket to
include two self-service tablets, a hearing loop and a TV screen to provide rolling
information and advice to visitors. Additionally, we have installed a freestanding
feedback kiosk survey stand in both Stowmarket and Sudbury, which makes it
simpler and easier for customers to provide us with feedback at the time of the visit.

Page 35

3.7.

We have rolled out our Customer Charter across the organisation and provided
service teams with an opportunity to engage about how they embed this as part of
their daily work; through team charters and commitments to answering customer
queries. We will be publicising this to customers in the New Year.

4.0

Digital Transformation & Improvement

4.1

We have reviewed our Equality & Diversity objectives and will be sharing a draft
version with our partner organisations who represent our protected characteristic
groups. A review of our training and a resulting action plan with measures of
success will follow. We will also be delivering additional training sessions for
Councillors to ensure that all have had an opportunity to attend.

4.2

Q2 performance reports contained additional measures reflecting data collated from
East Suffolk by way of a benchmarking comparison. The focus for benchmarking
will continue but targeted on areas of concern rather than all measures. Our Project
Management framework is now in place, and training has commenced with over 50
colleagues participating.

4.3

We have also been extending the use of Power BI (a tool that allows us to analyse
and create visual dashboards) for Learning & Development requests, Customer
Surveys, and Housing Stock – this means we can more easily identify issues and
trends in performance.

4.4

Programme Board, chaired by the Strategic Director, have been established to
support the delivery of key projects underpinning the Joint Corporate Plan. More
than 50 staff have completed Project Management Training over the past few
months.

5.0

ICT

5.1

We have upgraded our online payments platform, (Civica Icon) enabling it for the
latest version of the Banking Industries secure card payment toolset. This improves
the security and usability for those making payments online whilst ensuring Babergh
& Mid Suffolk District Councils avoid any additional costs that banks could have
levied in processing card payments if we had not complied.

5.2

Enhancements to our OpenHousing and Totalmobile solutions have been made
over the last quarter which provides for better integration and management of gas
safe, stock condition surveys, and heating servicing.

5.3

We are currently working on a new contact centre telephony solution which will be
implemented in the New Year. As we develop the solution, this will give us a more
responsive and flexible system as well as improved reporting.

5.4

Matthew Harding has been appointed to the role of Corporate ICT Manager, and
has a wide ranging set of skills and experience directly related to ICT. Matthew will
be overseeing the integration of existing ICT colleagues who are currently managed
by Suffolk County Council back into a wider ICT team incorporating, ICT project
management, Information Management including Geographical Information
Systems, data cleansing and ICT Business Support.

Page 36

6.0

Communications

6.1

The last quarter has seen the team both promote and respond to a wide range of
projects and issues across our districts. From Sept 1 to Dec 1, the team issued 24
separate press releases to the region’s media outlets and dealt with 74 media
enquiries as well as managing social media activity, in order to keep residents
informed of news and developments across both districts.

6.2

Proactive campaigns via media and social media during this period have included
messages around the General Election, support for public consultation on the Joint
Local Plan, Tree for Life, free swimming for youngsters, promoting the minor
adaptation grants and Christmas-related messages across a range of services for
residents.

6.3

The team has also delivered a number of campaigns and messages to support
business as usual activities. These have included announcing our support of the
county-wide carbon neutral ambitions and climate emergency, the development of
the Needham Lake visitor centre, our continuing efforts in relation to the fire at the
Fisons site earlier in the year, and redevelopment of the Stowmarket Middle School
site which will see 38 affordable homes delivered for the community.

6.4

Internal communications during this period have included helping employees to
start to understand our Corporate Plan, messages to encourage participation in our
annual staff survey; the launch of our internal staff awards; the re-launch of our
internal briefing document for managers; Christmas arrangements and messages;
and guidance for both staff and councillors in using Mod.Gov to access council
meeting papers to improve the ways we work digitally – as set out in the Customer
Charter

7.0

Future Key Activities

7.1

As we start the New Year, our Customer Transformation Programme will gather
pace with the conclusion of a series of customer forums, which have taken place
across the districts, to gain insight and intelligence about how our customers want
to engage with us and specifically through our website. These activities will
conclude in January with feedback thereafter and will form part of the requirements
gathering for a refreshed website. We will be adding detail to the programme plan
and commencing a set of wide-ranging activities which include; developing a
refreshed intranet (Connect), business process re-engineering across service
teams, and behavioural insight training.

Page 37

This page is intentionally left blank

MID SUFFOLK DISTRICT COUNCIL CABINET MEMBER UPDATE
From: Councillor Gerard Brewster
Cabinet Member for Economic
Growth

Report Number:

CMU14

To:

Date of meeting:

23 January 2020

Council

TO PROVIDE AN UPDATE FROM THE CABINET MEMBER FOR ECONOMIC GROWTH
1.0

Overview of Portfolio

1.1

The Economic Growth Portfolio includes Economy and Business, Regeneration and
Housing Development. Since October we have moved forward a number of large
Economic Growth and Regeneration projects and initiatives whilst undertaking a
complete review of the team structure to ensure we have the correct skills and
experience to be able to deliver ambitious and exciting future priorities. A summary
of activity that has taken place across the Growth agenda over the last few months
is as follows.

2.0

Recommendation

2.1

That Council notes the report.

3.0

Key activities since October 19

3.1

Economy and Business

3.2

The team have been developing a robust economic evidence base since August in
order to facilitate the development of a refreshed Economic Strategy. Work on a
framework for the revised strategy has commenced and will be brought to Cabinet in
the Spring.

3.3

We have been developing stronger relationships with our businesses in the District,
with ongoing work to visit the top 20 businesses both in terms of turnover and staff
numbers. We have listened to some of the issues businesses tell us they are
experiencing such as lack of good quality business space, lack of fast broadband
speeds and other infrastructure issues. We will ensure our new strategy seeks to
address these challenges to business growth.

3.4

We have now completed an Incubator and Grow On space study to better understand
the challenges our business face with poor quality or a complete lack of suitable
business
premises.
The
report
is
now
on
our
website
https://www.midsuffolk.gov.uk/business/economic-development/business-news-and-events/
and we are reviewing options to address the supply issues in our areas.

Page 39

3.5

We have also been reviewing the Business Grants programme across both Districts.
Whilst Babergh has a limited grants programme, Mid Suffolk has limited take up of
its existing schemes so we are seeking to develop a comprehensive programme of
support which covers both districts and widens the range of business uses which can
be considered for grants. We anticipate bringing back a formal business case for a
new grants programme across both Districts in the Spring.

3.6

We have continued to work with major employers who are relocating from the District
to ensure that existing employment sites stay in employment use. We have been
working with Bosch following their announcement to reduce the manufacturing
function in Stowmarket to ensure the current workforce secure alternative local jobs
and have been working with a number of growing businesses to ensure they can stay
in the town as they grow.

3.7.

Linked to the above work we have been part of an ongoing partnership to develop an
Innovation cluster in Stowmarket and were delighted to support the launch of
Innovation Labs in November, a new AI and tech based centre for entrepreneurs and
innovators in the District. The centre has hot desking spaces with programmes of
business support and skills development running throughout the year and is also
supported by Tech East, the local Chamber of Commerce and the Local Enterprise
Partnership. We continue to work with the Gateway 14 Company to create the right
conditions for an Innovation Cluster to flourish on the site and become a regional
centre of excellence.

3.8

We continue to market the area for inward investment and promote the scale of our
economic ambition with partners such as Suffolk County Council and the Local
Enterprise Partnership, being active through roles in a range of economic growth
forums eg Suffolk Growth Programme Board. However in September we jointly
facilitated the launch of the Central Suffolk Chamber of Commerce which will provide
a new resource in the District to support and help to grow our businesses.

4.0

Regeneration and Capital Projects

4.1

We have been working hard to bring forward the much anticipated Needham Lake
visitor centre and café and the project is now well on track with planning permission
granted in December. We have also announced a new tenant for the facility and are
currently working to secure a contractor for the scheme.

4.2

In addition we have been working with Network Rail, Greater Anglia and a range of
other partners, including the local access group, to secure the right solution for
disabled access to the platforms at Needham Station. We are waiting on the outcome
of a bid to the Department of Transport.

4.3

The Regeneration team are also supporting the Town Council in bringing forward the
development of the Regal Theatre to create 2 new cinema screens. A tender
exercise is now nearing completion and work should start in the Spring. This exciting
development sits at one of the gateways to the Town Centre and such investment in
the place will encourage further private inward investment and grow footfall into
Stowmarket

Page 40

4.4

Working with the Performance and Finance teams we have developed new ways of
monitoring and managing capital projects including the establishment of an internal
Growth Programme Board, development of a high level programme and risk register
for each project and a capital monitoring sheet which allows us to monitor capital
spend and commitments more effectively. We will use these tools for each project
going forward.

4.5

Part of our ongoing work on project delivery will take account of climate change and
in December we submitted a bid to the Government department for Business, Energy
and Industrial Strategy to secure funding for a comprehensive heat mapping exercise
on the Gateway 14 site. This is the first part of feasibility funding which will look at
whether alternative heat and power sources could be delivered on the site as part of
the development coming forward. We will know in the spring if this bid has been
successful.

5.0

Town Centre Vision work

5.1

Our key towns vision work continues in both Stowmarket, Needham Market and Eye
and since the public workshops earlier in the summer we have collated and reviewed
the findings and will be talking to local people about next steps.

5.2

The Stowmarket Project Group has been running for a few months and benefits from
cross working between the public and private sector with companies such as Orbital
Media and organisations such as the Mix and the Museum of East Anglian Life round
the table with the District and Town Council. We are also working with other Cultural
organisations such as the John Peel Centre and talking to new investors such as the
purchasers of Old Fox Yard about their plans for creative workspace in the heart of
the town centre. We are in the process of setting up the Stowmarket Vision Steering
Group, with our first meeting planned for February and together continue to develop
the Vision and activities which sit below it to ensure a joined up approach to
renaissance of Stowmarket as a Cultural and Technology hub in the East.

5.3

As part of the Needham Vision work we went to meet with students at Stowmarket
High school and ran a workshop with them to understand how they would like to see
their town of Needham Market develop in the future.

5.4

With all of our partners we will continue to drive forward the vision work and monitor
the wide range of projects in all towns to ensure interdependencies are managed to
ensure the best possible outcomes for businesses and residents.

Page 41

This page is intentionally left blank

MID SUFFOLK DISTRICT COUNCIL CABINET MEMBER UPDATE
From: Councillor Jessica Fleming
Cabinet Member for Environment

Report Number:

CMU15

To:

Date of meeting:

23 January 2020

Council

TO PROVIDE AN UPDATE FROM THE CABINET MEMBER FOR ENVIRONMENT &
COMMERCIAL PARTNERSHIPS
1.

Overview of Portfolio

1.1

This report summarises the key areas of activity in the portfolio since September and
highlights what is coming up for the next 3 months. The portfolio includes Waste &
Recycling, Public Realm, Building Control, Public Protection, Health & Safety and
Leisure.

2.

Recommendation

2.1

That Council notes the report.

3.

Key Activities since September
Waste & Recycling:

3.1

New Recycling Facility: The new recycling centre at Masons MRF has started to
process the district’s kerbside collected waste following a £15 million investment in
the old facility. The major refurbishment started in May this year and was recently
completed during November. The new facility has a dedicated education room to
enable community learning and site visits this will be open during 2020.

3.2

New Depot Scoping: Initial work has started on the scoping of a new operational
depot; a project team established, potential sites being explored, scoping of
operational requirements and preliminary costing – more detail will follow as the
project becomes more developed over the coming months.

3.3

Work continues on the National Waste Strategy; officers are working on options
appraisals on potential new service delivery models, accessing future infrastructure
needs and financial impact assessments on service changes. We expect further
consultation to start in 2020 as government thinking becomes more refined following
the first round of consultation carried out in May 2019.

3.4

Food Savvy: Babergh and Mid Suffolk are supporting the countywide Food Savvy
project through our membership of the Suffolk Waste Partnership (SWP). In Suffolk
over 50,000 tonnes of food waste is thrown away by residents each year costing the
local taxpayer approximately £4.75 million.
A full impact report outlining Food Savvy’s achievements in year one has now been
published. The report outlines the many innovative ideas undertaken already.

Page 43

This includes ideas such as Pumpkin Rescue, Christmas Savvy (currently being
repeated for 2019), Banana Drama and Travellers Checks, a campaign which sought
to encourage residents to share food when going on holiday. As well as these
campaigns, Council officers have spoken with over 12,000 residents at multiple
events and the project has brought external funding into Suffolk supporting, amongst
others, the creation of a community kitchen and Suffolk’s first community fridge. If
you would like to learn more, the full report can be found here www.foodsavvy.org.uk/about-1
Year two of the project is now underway and Officers are working with Hubbub to
develop new ideas, repeat those initiatives that worked well in year one and further
promote our overarching aims to residents. This will include new schemes focused
on reducing the wastage of individual types of food i.e. potatoes or bread, the
expansion of Suffolk community fridge network and an exciting partnership with the
East of England Co-op.
Public Realm:
3.5

The work to ensure implementation of Civil Parking Enforcement in Babergh and Mid
Suffolk continues. The Statutory Instrument is ready to be laid in Parliament by the
Department of Transport in January 2020.

3.6

Ipswich Borough and West Suffolk Councils will be taking on these duties, via a
Service Level Agreement, for Babergh and Mid Suffolk District Councils. Recruitment
will be starting soon for Civil Enforcement Officers so that training and development
can take place prior to patrolling our districts.

3.7

This is the 2nd year of Tree for Life project in Mid Suffolk. Applications are flooding
in; with 3 weeks to go to register there were 220 applicants in Mid Suffolk. This is
over the estimated take up (based on last year’s figures) and equates to 26% of births
and adoptions in Mid Suffolk (last year it was 21%).

3.8

We are working with a group in Elmswell (known as Elmswild) to agree a number of
Mid Suffolk owned sites where a scatter orchard might be located in Elmswell with
wildflower planting beneath. The group hope to plant 5 trees in each of 8 potential
sites.

3.9

A consultation has taken place with residents of Ash Close in Onehouse for a
potential “half mow” site. The results will be collated, and a decision made in the next
few weeks. We hope to identify a number of potential half mown sites across the
joint district.

3.10

Public Realm Officers are working with colleagues in the Communities’ Team to
advise a number of Town and Parish Councils with regard to current play
refurbishment projects
Building Control:

3.11

The Suffolk Group collaboration had suffered a minor setback in that the Business
Development Officer post became vacant. However, a successful recruitment took
place before Christmas. Our relationship with Concertus continues to improve due to
work undertaken as a Suffolk group which we will be looking to replicate elsewhere.

Page 44

Following all the groundwork put in over the last 11 months the intention is to now
increase marketing activity to raise awareness with the public around what we do and
what we offer.
3.12

The situation with the private sector and issues over insurance has yet to be fully
resolved. We are currently managing the additional workload from private sector
failures and are now seeing more work being handed back to us where private bodies
are either unable or unwilling to complete. We will continue to monitor the situation
and deal with each instance as it occurs accordingly.

3.13

We are also expecting a fundamental change to the Building Act coming in next year
which will address issues around regulations affecting Approved Inspectors, time
limits for enforcement, possible charging for demolition notices as well as a general
update.
Public Protection:

3.14

An Electric Vehicle Charging Point in the centre of Eye has been installed utilising
CIL funding. It went ‘live’ in late November and is being used.

3.15

Through its membership of the Suffolk Climate Change Partnership (SCCP), a further
offer to residents and businesses to have solar panels installed on their premises at
a significantly discounted rate has been made. The first round saw 177 Babergh and
Mid Suffolk households and businesses benefit from a 20% discount through our
‘Solar Together Suffolk’ bulk-buy scheme. This time round there have been 1,048
registrants of interest across Suffolk. The winning supplier is Greenspace, an
Ipswich-based business with accreditation from SCC Trading Standards, Which? And
Trusted Trader. An average 32% saving on the typical market price of panels has
been negotiated. Installations should start in the New Year.

3.16

The Food and Safety team have been surveying the main industrial estates across
the districts to establish information about warehouse activities that are under the
jurisdiction of the local authorities for health and safety. General health and safety
advice has been given to relevant businesses with more than 100 contacted so far.

3.17

Having investigated the health and safety issues surrounding a fatality in a charity
shop, one of the councils’ Food and Safety Officers attended the coroners court
inquest in September to give evidence. The coroner concluded that it was an
accidental death. The family of the deceased thanked the Food and Safety Officer for
his thorough investigation.

3.18

The Food and Safety team have started to promote food businesses achieving a 5
star rating on the councils’ social media platforms under the label Friday 5s.

3.19

A prosecution for food safety offences is in progress relating to a market trader
operating in Stowmarket.

Page 45

3.20

Two prosecutions for fly tipping were concluded in September with fines of £720 and
£1,000 imposed as well as costs being awarded to the councils. These both followed
failures to pay fixed penalty notices. Ten further fixed penalty notices were served by
the Environmental Protection team up to the end of September and a Simple Caution
was administered to another person for failing to meet their legal ‘duty of care’ to
ensure that waste from their household was transferred to a licensed waste carrier.
Corporate Health & Safety:

3.21

On 10th December an Avian Influenza outbreak was declare at a commercial poultry
farm in Athelington north east of Eye in Mid Suffolk. As part of the multi-agency
response MSDC were placed on alert to potentially assist with signage and
monitoring within the 1Km restriction zone.

3.22

Officers participated in the multi-agency teleconferences and briefed Senior
Management. The coincidence of this incident with the build up to the general election
added a degree of complexity and business continuity arrangements were
considered.

3.23

As the incident progressed MSDC were not required to assist with the incident.
Subsequently the birds at this unit have been culled, the site has been cleansed and
at this point no additional cases have been reported. We are awaiting confirmation
on the duration of the restriction zone which remains in force at this point.

4.

Future Key Activities
Waste & Recycling: New Depot Scoping

4.1

As work on the depot project moves forward; sites are identified, preliminary costings
are finalised and discussions with potential partners are developed we will be able
firm up a detailed proposal and time frame for the project.
Waste & Recycling: National Waste Strategy

4.2

We expect further consultation to start in 2020 as government thinking becomes more
refined following the first round of consultation carried out in May 2019. We will
respond to consultations as they become available and as we find out more
information be able to prepare for the future changes to our Waste services.
Waste & Recycling: Alternative Fuel Waste Vehicles

4.3

Most of the Waste Services vehicles are due for replacement during 2023, while a
way into the future we will start to explore options with our service partner Serco for
alternative fuelled waste collection vehicles; trialling of demonstrator vehicles and
detailed options appraisals.
Public Realm:

4.4

Over the next few months all mapping data held by the Council will be checked and
updated. This will include checking whether areas maintained are accurately
mapped. This will give accurate information on the quantity of work the Council needs
to complete and most importantly how this is spread out over the District.

Page 46

This information is very important if the Council is to review these services in order
for members to make the best decision on how these services are managed in the
future.
4.5

The Tree for Life scheme will close on the 31st Dec 2019 and now comes the
important work of distributing the trees. Two distribution sessions are being organised
for Jan and Feb 2020.

4.6

Early in the new year plans are being made to replace or refurbish play sites at Chilton
Fields, Kite Close, Curlew Close and Partridge Close in Stowmarket.
Building Control:

4.7

Recruitment of a Suffolk wide marketing/business development post to continue the
good work already done and to further promote the service.

4.8

Changes in legislation and standards, particularly Parts F (ventilation) and L (energy
efficiency), to be published late March early April with a few being in force in early
October.

4.9

Changes to the Building Act to address issues with private sector provision – possibly
2 tier insurance structure for private sector.

4.10

Await legislation to implement recommendations of the Building A Safer Future
(Hackitt/Grenfell reports).
Public Protection:

4.11

The Suffolk Climate Change Partnership is seeking to invest in the installation of solar
panels on the roofs of suitable business premises. We have already installed one
array at the University of Suffolk and are in negotiations with a leisure centre provider
to install a second array. These projects are on an ‘invest to save’ basis, with the
income generated being used to sustain the work of the partnership. However, the
Partnership intends to revise its business model to significantly expand its offer to
Suffolk businesses to help them reduce their energy bills and become ‘carbon
neutral’.

4.12

Information gathered from surveying warehousing businesses will be used to develop
more targeted health and safety interventions in 2020 for those identified as having
some of the more significant risks such as the use of forklift trucks and high racking.

4.13

Licensing training for members of the licensing committees is being planned for
March 2020.

Page 47

This page is intentionally left blank

MID SUFFOLK DISTRICT COUNCIL CABINET MEMBER UPDATE
From: Councillor John Whitehead
Cabinet Member for Finance

Report Number:

To:

Date of meeting:

Council

CMU16
23 January 2020

TO PROVIDE AN UPDATE FROM THE CABINET MEMBER FOR FINANCE
1.

Overview of Portfolio

1.1

This report summarises the key areas of activity in my portfolio since my last report
in September, before highlighting what is coming up for the next 3 months. The
portfolio includes Finance, Commissioning and Procurement and the Shared
Revenues Partnership. For Babergh it also includes HR and Organisational
Development.

1.2

Due to the pre-election period, the planned finance reports to Cabinet or Committee,
that I mentioned in my last report to Council, have been deferred until this month or
circulated outside of a formal meeting.

2.

Recommendation

2.1

That Council notes the report.

3.

Key Activities since September
2018/19 Statement of Accounts

3.1

I mentioned in my report in September that our external auditors, Ernst & Young LLP
(EY), were unable to complete their work and sign off the accounts by the end of July,
due to resourcing issues. Their challenges have continued since September and the
intention is now to present their report and the audited accounts to Joint Audit and
Standards Committee at the end of January.
2019/20 Budget Monitoring

3.2

The second quarter budget monitoring reports for the General Fund and HRA were
due to be presented to Cabinet in December, but due to the general election and the
pre-election period it was decided by the Leader and the Chief Executive to circulate
the reports outside of the January Cabinet meetings, in order to manage those
agendas. The reports have been made available to all councillors and the public on
the Council’s website.

3.3

Based on the information at the second quarter, projected to the end of the year, the
General Fund is showing a favourable variance of £18k for Babergh and £397k for
Mid Suffolk comprising several favourable and adverse variances that are detailed in
the report. Capital spend is currently projected to be £15.2m less than budget for
Babergh and £12.6m for Mid Suffolk. This is as a result of the total budget for some
major capital projects being included within the 2019/20 budget, but the expenditure
will be incurred across more than one year. Any underspend on these projects will
be carried forward to 2020/21.
Page 49

3.4

For the HRA, the position is different with an adverse variance of £109k currently
being projected to the end of the year for Babergh and £230k for Mid Suffolk. Again,
these are made up of a range of favourable and adverse variances with the detail
being set out in the reports. Capital spend is currently projected to be £250k less
than budget for Babergh and on target for Mid Suffolk at the year-end.
Finance Training for Councillors

3.5

Since my last report in September, the two remaining finance training modules on
business rates and council tax have been delivered. Attendance continued to be
disappointing for these last two modules, but the feedback from those that did attend
was positive.

3.6

As attendance reduced to about one quarter of all councillors attending the final
session on council tax, I would be interested in hearing your views as to what could
be done differently in future to increase participation.
Shared Revenues Partnership (SRP)

3.7

Since my last report there has not been a meeting of the SRP Joint Committee, due
to the general election and pre-election period. The next one will be held on 29 th
January 2020.

3.8

Two reports linked to council tax were approved by Cabinet in January. The first was
the introduction of a Council Tax Penalties Policy and the second was the adoption
of the Citizens Advice Collection Protocol.

3.9

The former has been introduced as part of an anti-fraud strategy to protect the public
purse and maximise the tax base and will be used in cases like the single person
discount. Cases will be considered on an individual basis to ensure that the most
vulnerable residents are not adversely affected by the new policy.

3.10

The latter has been adopted following a review by the Shared Revenues Partnership
of their council tax collection processes and how these could be improved. The
Citizens Advice Collection Protocol reflects best practice and will further facilitate
regular liaison between the Councils, our enforcement agents and Citizens Advice on
practices and policy concerning council tax collection.

3.11

In my last report I outlined that the Shared Revenues Partnership was undertaking a
review of the Council Tax Reduction Scheme. Following the exploratory work, it
became evident that it was not possible to make changes that would assist with
administering the scheme without having a significant impact on our most vulnerable
residents. This work has therefore been put on hold.

3.12

A review of long-term empty properties has been undertaken in order to maximise
the new homes bonus payment (NHB) for 2020/21. This resulted in a reduction in the
number of properties recorded as being unoccupied and unfurnished for over 6
months by 33 for Babergh and 31 for Mid Suffolk. This reduction will form part of the
NHB payment.

3.13

A project is being run to identify either missing rateable value or undervalued
business rate properties. At the end of November, 32 reports for Babergh and 63
reports for Mid Suffolk have been raised with the Valuation Office Agency. The
outcome so far is an additional £32,580 rateable value for Babergh and £273,725 for
Mid Suffolk.
Page 50

3.14

A new portal has been implemented that allows landlords to view their Housing
Benefit account online and check what payments they will be receiving for their
tenants. This has resulted in a reduction of printed and mailed items. 702 items were
recorded for the last week in September and this has reduced to a maximum of 4
items per week since the portal went live.

3.15

The Shared Revenues Partnership continues to promote the retail discount when
contacting ratepayers. As at the end of November, £560,896 had been awarded to
ratepayers in Babergh and £334,763 in Mid Suffolk.

4.

Future Key Activities
Regular Reports to Cabinet / Committees

4.1

Due to the general election and pre-election period some of the regular reports that I
mentioned in my last report are being presented later than anticipated. I have already
spoken about the Statement of Accounts and the second quarter budget monitoring
report, but the other report impacted was the half-year report on treasury
management. This is now being reported to Joint Audit and Standards Committee
on 27th January along with the 2020/21 Capital, Investment and Treasury
Management Strategies and the external auditors report on the Statement of
Accounts.

4.2

The third quarter budget monitoring report will go to Cabinet in March. I will report
the key messages from all these reports in my next Cabinet Member report to Council.
2019/20 Budget and Medium-Term Financial Strategy

4.3

Since my last report, a lot of work has been done in preparing the 2020/21 budgets.
An all Member briefing was held in early January before the proposals were
published, followed by the draft budgets being presented to Cabinet and more
recently reviewed by Overview and Scrutiny Committee. Any further amendments
will be made before the final proposals are presented to Cabinet in February for
recommendation to Council for approval at the end of February.
External Review of Commissioning and Procurement

4.4

Following the Management Review and the creation of one new team that covers
Finance, Commissioning and Procurement, the decision has been taken to invite the
East of England Local Government Association to undertake a review of our
commissioning and procurement activity. This will begin in early February and be
concluded in April/May with a report being produced. This will be considered by the
Commissioning and Procurement Board and the Senior Leadership Team and an
action plan developed to respond to any areas for development.

Page 51

This page is intentionally left blank

MID SUFFOLK DISTRICT COUNCIL CABINET MEMBER UPDATE
FROM:

TO:

Councillor Julie Flatman
Cabinet Member for Housing
Councillor Gerard Brewster
Cabinet Member for Housing
Delivery

REPORT NUMBER:

CMU17

Council

DATE OF MEETING:

23 January 2020

TO PROVIDE AN UPDATE FROM THE CABINET MEMBER FOR HOUSING
1.

OVERVIEW OF PORTFOLIO

1.1

The Housing Portfolio includes: Home Ownership, Sheltered Housing, Tenancy
Management, Income Collection, Property Services, Building Services (BMBS),
Private Sector Housing, Housing Development, Housing Solutions, Choice Based
Lettings and HRA Finance. Our Vision is for residents to live in districts where people
have access to affordable and high-quality homes that enable them to build settled,
safe and healthy lives, within sustainable and thriving communities.

2.

RECOMMENDATION

2.1

That Council notes the report.

3.

KEY ACTIVITIES/ISSUES OVER THE PAST 3 MONTHS October 2019 – January
2020

3.1

HOUSING SERVICE RESTRUCTURE
During the past three months the whole Housing Service has been consulting a group
of staff on changes to existing job roles. The aim is to ensure the Housing service
meets its future priorities and responds to the changing needs of its residents and
tenants.
Key changes include the creation of a Neighbourhoods team focussed on estate
management, the quality of grounds maintenance, and the safety of communal
areas. There will also be a greater focus on Compliance management, and changes
to the team that administers the Housing register.

3.2

DEVELOPMENT OF A BUSINESS CASE FOR A JOINT VENTURE FOR THE
FUTURE DELIVERY OF BUILDING SERVICES
In October 2019 Cabinet approved the development of a business case, which
explores the opportunities for developing a Joint Venture between Babergh and Mid
Suffolk District Councils and Flagship Group.
The Business case will consider a Joint Venture that will deliver Housing Repairs,
Maintenance and Planned Improvements to the Councils 6,800 Housing Revenue
Account homes.

Page 53

Full details of the proposal can be found on the Connect pages for the October
Cabinet meeting.
3.3

LAUNCH OF A GUARANTEED RENT SCHEME – CENTRAL SUFFOLK LETTINGS
In April, we will be launching a Guaranteed Rent Scheme to increase the number of
people being successfully placed into private rented accommodation. This will
hopefully reduce the dependency on Temporary Accommodation and provide a more
settled move for residents from one accommodation to another.
The Guaranteed Rent Scheme will be marketed under the umbrella of ‘Central Suffolk
Lettings’ (CSL), which will aim to target private landlords and work collaboratively with
agents, showing we are a commercially minded team focussed on providing a good
service to both tenants and landlords.

3.4

REGULATORY REFORM ORDER POLICY
A Housing Assistance Policy has recently been approved, which has been developed
under the Regulatory Reform Order to provide the Councils with more discretion over
how they spend the money allocated for Disabled Facilities Grants. The Policy will
be closely monitored and feedback on the success will be provided in late 2020.

3.5

TEMPORARY ACCOMMODATION POLICY
A Temporary Accommodation (TA) Policy has recently been approved, which sets
out what accommodation the Councils will use to provide TA under their
accommodation duties to those who are homeless. It also sets out how allocation to
those units will be prioritised and how they will prioritise those placed out of the area
for vacancies that arise within the District.

3.6

ROUGH SLEEPER FUNDING – Ministry of Housing Communities and Local
Government (MHCLG)
The Councils were awarded funding to develop a 12 month Supported Lettings
Scheme to support those who have formerly been a rough sleeper in either Babergh,
Mid Suffolk or West Suffolk’s area. The Scheme has been in operation since
September and MHCLG have now invited the Councils to bid for further funding, so
the scheme can be extended until 31st March 2021.
West Suffolk Council have also submitted a bid, which will extend their current Rough
Sleeper Outreach Service into the Babergh and Mid Suffolk Districts.
We will know the outcome of the bids before the end of March 2020.

3.7

COLD WEATHER FUNDING - MHCLG
The Councils have been successful in securing £5,000 (£2,500 per Council) funding
through the Cold Weather Fund. This will enable the Council to work with those
Rough Sleeping and provide accommodation for up to 28 days, whilst we work with
them under a Relief Duty (under the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017) to try and
secure alternative housing.

Page 54

3.8

PROPERTY LEASED TO SUFFOLK COUNTY COUNCIL (SCC) FOR STAYING
CLOSE PROJECT
SCC approached the Housing Solutions team for help finding a 2 to 3 bedroom
property to lease to young people being accommodated under their Corporate
Parenting responsibilities, as part of the Staying Close Project.
We quickly identified a 2 bedroom flat in Stowmarket and prioritised the void repair
works so that it was available as soon as possible as they were working with very
tight timescales.
The Assets and Investments Team agreed to let the property under a licence while
the full lease terms are signed, avoiding any delay to the young people having access
to the property.
This is a really positive example of the pro-active and positive approach Babergh and
Mid Suffolk are taking to working with colleagues, such as SCC and also whilst
meeting our Corporate Parenting responsibilities.

3.9

ROUGH SLEEPER COUNT
In November, the Councils conducted their Rough Sleeper Count. Due to the
geographical nature of the Districts and the numbers of Rough Sleepers we are
currently engaging with, we carried out an ‘estimate’, in conjunction with a number of
agencies locally who also engage with Rough Sleepers. On the night, we carried out
the estimate, we counted 2 Rough Sleepers in each District. These figures have
been verified by Homeless Link who conduct the count nationally and the figures will
be published in 2020.

3.10

STAR SURVEY
Officers in Housing and Business Improvement are continuing to analyse the results
of the STAR survey to identify the priority actions. These priorities have been shared
with SLT and the Housing Management Team and they are being incorporated into
the Housing service plans for 2020/21.
The results will be presented to members in early 2019/20, including an action plan
for specific outcomes and recommendations from the results.

3.11

INCOME MANAGEMENT POLICY
Following the recent implementation of the new Income Management Policy, Income
Officers are now contacting all new tenants within 4 weeks of the start of their
tenancy. This enables earlier intervention by the Income Officer or Financial Inclusion
Officer to help prevent debt accumulating.

3.12

UNIVERSAL CREDIT
As of 1 December 2019, there were a total of 328 council tenants in receipt of
Universal Credit across the two districts (up from 290 tenants in July 2019), 181 in
Babergh and 147 in Mid Suffolk.

Page 55

Mid Suffolk

No of UC claimants

Babergh

Dec
2019

Jul
2019

Dec 2018

147

129

48

76

46

No. of Alternative 107
Payment
Arrangements APAs

Dec
2019

Jul 2019

Dec 2018

181

161

54

125

93

66

Of those, there were 107 tenants in Mid Suffolk and 125 in Babergh with Alternative
Payment Arrangements (APAs) in place. APAs are requested by us as the landlord
and allow the housing element of Universal Credit to be paid directly to us in order to
clear arrears on a claimant’s rent account.
In Q1, 2019/20, the Universal Credit arrears were as follows:

3.13



Mid Suffolk – 28.91% of the total dwelling arrears (down from 29.96% in Q1 of
2019/20). This equates to £117,628.89 with the average arrear per UC
claimant being £800.19.



Babergh – 28.05% of the total dwelling arrears (down from 34.57% in Q1 of
2019/20). This equates to £143,635.63 with the average arrear per UC
claimant being £793.56.

MOBILITY SCOOTER STORAGE AT SHELTERED SCHEMES
Part of the new Mobility Scooter Policy is to ensure that all scooters are appropriately
stored. Tenant and Building Services are reviewing current storage at all schemes
and considering options to provide additional or more suitable storage where
required.

3.14

TENANT BOARD UPDATE
The Tenant Board completed its first scrutiny project looking at the scheduling of
repairs at the end of September. The final report makes 10 recommendations
concerning improvements to the repairs booking system and overall communication
with tenants about repairs. The report was shared with Housing Management Team
and will be used to inform the review of Building Services.

3.15

MEMBERS SOUNDING BOARD
We will be holding an initial Member’s Sounding Board meeting in early February to
review the work of the Tenant Board, consider the outcomes of tenant engagement
activities over the past year, and agree priorities for the coming year
It is hoped that a dedicated Tenant Engagement Coordinator will be in post early in
2020, and they will be able to support the Member’s Sounding Board going forward
as well as our tenant involvement work.

Page 56

3.16

VOID PERFORMANCE
Voids performance continues to be maintained, with performance from April –
November averaging for standard voids at 16 days in Babergh and 18 days in Mid
Suffolk. This is a huge achievement and Officers are working incredibly hard to
maintain this figure and to try and improve on it further.

3.17

SOCIAL HOUSING DEVELOPMENT AND ACQUISITION
In Q3 of 2019/20, 4 units were acquired on the open market in Mid Suffolk.
No new build affordable housing units are scheduled to be completed in Babergh or
Mid Suffolk in 2019/20, but starts on site are currently programmed in May 2020 for
Needham Middle School (41 units) and June 2020 for Stowmarket Middle School (38
units).
The planning application for the Mendlesham Old Engine site was submitted in
December 2019 and solicitors are currently working on the sale contract and
Development Agreement. The planning officer is working with all three parties to
finalise the S106 and agree the affordable housing and its specification.

4.

CONCLUSION

4.1

This report summarises a range of diverse activity across the Housing Directorate,
there is a significant amount of work taking place currently within the service that
will be presented to you in future Cabinet Member Reports.

Page 57

This page is intentionally left blank

MID SUFFOLK DISTRICT COUNCIL CABINET MEMBER UPDATE
From: Councillor David Burn
Cabinet Member for Planning

Report Number:

CMU18

To:

Date of meeting:

23 January 2020

Council

TO PROVIDE AN UPDATE FROM THE CABINET MEMBER FOR PLANNING
1.

Overview of Portfolio

1.1

The role includes the following responsibilities:
Ensure the Council carries out its statutory duties as Local Planning Authority
Ensure Development Management makes good quality and timely Decisions
Ensure that the Council has up-to-date Planning Policies that have a positive impact
without unduly restricting development

1.2

These collectively deliver the following outcomes:







Protect and enhance our built and natural environment
Understand what housing and employment sites are needed
Unlock the barriers to sustainable growth
Help create and maintain sustainable communities
Agree where growth goes
Liaise with neighbouring authorities to fulfil our Duty to Cooperate

2.

Recommendation

2.1

That Council notes the report.

3.

Key Activities/Issues Over the Past Six Months

3.1

In Babergh, performance on planning applications (as judged by MHCLG statistics)
for majors in time in the six months to the end of November 2019 was 91% (22 cases).
For non-majors Babergh decided 97.3% applications (511 cases) in time. In relation
to pre-application advice Babergh provided advice in 143 cases.

3.2

In Mid Suffolk, 85% of majors (47 cases) were determined in time in the six months
to the end of November 2019. For non-majors Mid Suffolk decided 97.4% applications
(587 cases) in time. In relation to pre-application cases Mid Suffolk provided advice
in 184 cases.

3.3

The team continue to focus upon service improvements in both procedures and
activities and have established a group of ongoing improvement projects to help bring
together Development Management, Heritage and Enforcement activities in an
aligned way. Included in this is a programme for Member and Officer training for 2020.
This will include training in January to assist Members in their consideration of the
emerging Joint Local Plan in planning decision making.

Page 59

3.4

In relation to Heritage matters the service has provided consultation advice in relation
to 147 listed building consent applications and 296 planning applications for Babergh,
with a mean average turnaround of 15 days to respond. In terms of Mid Suffolk,
advice in relation to 101 listed building consent applications and 326 planning
applications was provided, with a mean average turnaround also of 15 days. The
team are actively looking at potential service improvements including widening the
scope of possible pre-application advice to help to recover a greater proportion of
operational costs and reduce reliance upon negotiation during the lifetime of an
application. This would be expected to improve outcome certainty for applicants and
safeguard timely processing of applications as part of any improved service offer.

3.5

In relation to Planning Enforcement, the service opened 65 investigations in Babergh
in the 3 months to the end of November 2019, and closed 91 cases during the same
period. In Mid Suffolk, the service opened 84 investigations in the 3 months to the
end of November 2019, and closed 75 cases in that period. In the same period 2
notices were issued in Babergh, and 10 notices were issued in Mid Suffolk. The team
are working to reduce backlogs and streamline performance whilst increasing the
transparency of our enforcement process. This work will be continuing through Spring
2020.

3.6

In June both Councils considered and approved a Housing Delivery Test Action Plan
(HDTAP) for publication. A group of officers across Development Management,
Strategic Housing, the Councils’ Development Team and Strategic Planning Policy
are currently working collaboratively to implement the Action Plans (for both
Councils). Some examples of progress made to date include the completion of a
survey on CIL with results currently being analysed, completion of the first part of the
Local Validation List, completion of the first Community Led Housing scheme in
Lavenham with the development of further schemes in the pipeline and progress on
the delivery of new homes through Council schemes together with work with
Registered providers around the delivery of affordable houses through s106
Obligations.

3.7

Recruitment and retention of experienced staff remains an ongoing risk to resilient
service and performance which has been flagged as a significant risk on the
corporate risk register. We continue to take an approach focused on career
development to invest in our own staff and a programme of training for 2020 is under
development. The Market Factor Supplement for Planning Officers, introduced in
2018, has been extended and is paid to all existing and newly appointed qualified
staff.

3.8

Neighbourhood Plans continue to make positive progress in both Councils. In
Babergh, two Plans received majority ‘yes’ votes when they went to a local
referendum late last year. A report to confirm the formal adoption of the Aldham Plan
is being presented to Council this week. The Elmsett Plan has been adopted outside
of Full Council and was done so to ensure our compliance with the relevant
regulations. Together, they bring the total number of ‘made’ (adopted) Plans in
Babergh up to five. Twenty-two other plans are being progressed across the district,
a few of which are now at final working draft stage prior to being published for presubmission consultation over the next few months.

3.9

In Mid Suffolk, the Botesdale & Rickinghall Plan will be formally ‘made’ (adopted) this
week following a majority ‘yes’ vote at referendum in late November 2019. This brings
the total number of ‘made’ (adopted) neighbourhood plans in Mid Suffolk up to seven.
Page 60

Of the sixteen other plans being progressed across the district, both Eye and
Fressingfield have been independently examined and are now being readied in
anticipation of advancement to a local referendum. As post-examination plans, both
are also a material consideration in planning decisions locally. Two other plans,
Drinkstone and Woolpit, are currently out to submission consultation, and both will be
advanced to independent examination in late February / early March.
3.10

As part of the CIL Expenditure Framework review, seven Joint Member Panel
meetings have been undertaken during September, October and November together
with the consideration of a report to Joint Overview and Scrutiny in September with
the meeting attended by Infrastructure providers from Rail, Health, Bus Passenger
transport and Education. Cockfield Parish Council also participated. One ‘All Member’
briefing was held in September so that views on the current scheme could be
captured and another will be arranged in the New year so that outcomes from the
work of the Joint Member Panel can be fed back to Members. One of the key
changes in circumstances which will have some bearing on CIL expenditure going
forward is the publication of the Joint Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP) which sits
alongside and supports the Joint Local Plan and sets out infrastructure priorities on
a critical, essential and desirable basis
Annual Monitoring Report and Annual Housing Land Supply Position
Statements

3.11

The Babergh and Mid Suffolk Joint Annual Monitoring Report 2018-2019 was
published in September 2019. This document identified that 1,269 dwellings were
built across both districts between April 2018 and March 2019 (579 dwellings in
Babergh and 690 dwellings in Mid Suffolk). These completions inform the
Government’s Housing Delivery Test results, which are due to be published in late
December 2019. The number of dwellings to be completed from outstanding planning
permissions as at 1st April 2019 in Babergh was 4,513 dwellings and in Mid Suffolk
was 6,555 dwellings.

3.12

The Annual Housing Land Supply Position Statements for Babergh and Mid Suffolk
were published in September 2019 following a four-week consultation period. The
report for Babergh demonstrates a Housing Land Supply of 5.67 years and the report
for Mid Suffolk demonstrates a Housing Land Supply of 5.66 years, both above the
Five-Year Housing Land Supply Requirement.
Joint Local Plan Update

3.13

The Babergh and Mid Suffolk Joint Local Plan Preferred Options Consultation
(Regulation 18) took place between 22nd July and 30th September 2019. The Joint
Local Plan is an important document, which will provide the strategy for growth of the
Districts, setting out what and where development will take place up to 2036.
Residents, local businesses and stakeholders were invited to have their say on the
Plan. Approximately 5,500 representations were received during the consultation.

3.14

Copies of the document were provided to all Councillors, sent to Town and Parish
Councils and were available at the Customer Access Points in Stowmarket and
Subury, and at Libraries in Capel St Mary, Debenham, Elmswell, Eye, Glemsford,
Great Cornard, Hadleigh, Lavenham, Long Melford, Needham Market, Shotley,
Stowmarket, Stradbroke, Sudbury and Thurston.

Page 61

3.15

During the consultation period there were four Town and Parish Council briefings,
two events specifically for Neighbourhood Planning Groups, and twenty public dropin events at local venues across both Districts. Details of all events were promoted
through both traditional (print, radio) and social media and posters were made
available so that Town and Parish Councils could advertise the events on local
noticeboards. The Joint Local Plan Preferred Options document and supporting
documentation was available to view on the Councils’ website and comments could
be made directly through the website.

3.16

The joint Council, cross-party, Councillor Working Group met in the lead up to the
publication of the Plan and is chaired on an alternate basis by the respective Cabinet
Members for Planning. The group has re-convened in December 2019 to reflect on
the responses received to the consultation.

4.

Future Key Activities

4.1

Continuing to determine and advise upon planning applications in a high quality and
timely way remains a priority. It is expected that a number of Major planning
applications will come before planning committee including market-led proposals for
developments along the A14 corridor in line with draft JLP allocations and these
proposals and their relationship to emerging and made Neighbourhood Plans will
require very careful consideration.

4.2

With a number of Neighbourhood Plans reaching submission and examination stage
it remains important that we continue to provide effective support to the groups
working on them.

4.3

The CIL Expenditure Framework review will continue and any revisions will result in
reports being brought to Full Council in each respective Council prior to Bid round 5
opening in May 2020. Alongside the review, bids for future infrastructure projects will
continue to be received and developed and where appropriate presented to both
Council’s Cabinet for determination.

4.4

The joint Council, cross-party, Councillor Working Group will continue to meet to
reflect on responses to the Joint Local Plan consultation and inform amendments to
any policies.

5.

Conclusion

5.1

The service continues to deal with high demand on a day-to-day basis as well as
several significant projects. It is vitally important to maintain momentum and
engagement on the Joint Local Plan. Refining the Councils’ approach and
governance around CIL Expenditure is also high priority. At the same time, it is
important that we retain focus on decisions made on individual planning applications
and continue to improve the efficiency and quality of our decision-making processes.

Page 62

Agenda Item 10
MC/19/33

TO:

Council

REPORT NUMBER:

FROM:

Chair of Overview and
Scrutiny Committee

DATE OF MEETING: 23 January 2020

Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee held two separate meetings on 8 January 2020 and
Mid Suffolk Overview and Scrutiny Committee also met on the same day. Full reports on
those meetings will be provided to a future Council meeting. A report on the Cross Authority
Task and Finish Group set up to look at the Citizens Advice Service is set out below so that it
can be used to inform the budget setting processes of the Council

Suffolk Cross Authority Task and Finish Group - CITIZENS ADVICE
The original impetus for this Task and Finish Group emerged from a 2018/19 Babergh/Mid
Suffolk Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s examination of Citizens Advice in their
districts. In part, this was prompted by concerns over changes in funding within Suffolk. It
became clear that a larger Suffolk wide approach would be required to examine Citizens
Advice properly and effectively. The BMSDC Joint Committee resolved to approach all other
authorities in Suffolk to form this group. It has never been the intention to target or criticise
any particular body, and the members from the four authorities involved have approached
this apolitically. The aim has always been to examine, to provide a perspective, and seek
positive outcomes.
The Task and Finish Group was made up of representatives of the Overview and Scrutiny
Committees of Babergh, Ipswich, Mid Suffolk and West Suffolk Councils. Suffolk County
Council and East Suffolk Council declined the invitation to take part.
The December Task & Finish Group meeting was organised into three sessions:
First, an extensive presentation was given by Citizens Advice Chief Officers followed by
questions. This dealt with Value, Impacts and Funding.
The second session added interested parties and representatives from authorities primarily
concerned with Impacts, and involvement in Funding.
The final session was a wide-ranging discussion period as the Task and Finish Group sought to
agree how best to use the information obtained in the first two sessions.
The Task and Finish Group established that a full understanding of three aspects of the service
is crucial: the Service Value, the Impacts on other authorities and the future Funding of
Citizens Advice in Suffolk.
The Value of the Service
Some key points:
Citizens Advice have been in operation in the UK for 80 years. As an organisation they have
existed longer than the NHS or any of our own authorities. In Suffolk they operate from 8
central locations spread across the county. Each Local Citizens Advice (LCA) has charitable
status, operating (under their trustees’ oversight) as part of a national network.
Page 63

They are, in effect, franchisees with the same policies, standards, training and accreditation
as the National charity. All are audited annually.
In 2018/19 Suffolk LCA’s helped 21,947 people with 86,884 problems. This is equivalent to
well over 3% of the adult population. Each client has an average of 4 problems to address.
Currently the client base is growing at a rate of 7% a year and the problem base at 30%.
Contact with clients can be by telephone, email, webmail, and webchat, but face to face
contact remains essential. The network of 14 locations, operating from the 8 central offices,
in Suffolk, allows this to be practical at a human level. In addition, the websites received
340,000 visits in 2018/19, providing instant advice.
The service extends to all aspects of modern life, but the principal issues are Debt
Management, Benefits and Tax Credits, and Relationships and Family. The fastest rising
number of issues deal with Universal Credit, but Legacy benefits will exist for some time to
come. Universal Credit roll out currently extends to between a quarter and a third of benefit
claimants. The caseload in this area will only rise, but the rate and method of rollout remains
uncertain.
A full list of issues and problems covered would be too lengthy, but a simpler question might
be ‘What issues are NOT dealt with by Citizens Advice’?
The service is provided by professional paid staff heavily supported by 425 volunteers. These
volunteers are fully trained by the BCA, and their importance cannot be understated, as will
be seen under Impacts. Many volunteers will have strong local connections with the individual
bureaux. The Suffolk CABs have formed a network, The Suffolk network (Suffolk Alliance of
Citizens Advice), which allows all staff opportunities for specialisation, shared resources and
a fully collaborative approach. These organisations are constantly transforming.
All advice offered, is free, confidential and demonstrably independent. The simple value of
financial, social and, in some cases, existential advice in a secure and trusted environment
was clearly demonstrated to the group. A less obvious value also exists in providing clients
with the knowledge, confidence and ability to handle their own problems. This empowerment
often leads people to be able to provide support and advice themselves to even more people.
91% of clients say they would recommend the service.
More complete supporting information is available from the papers and presentations that
the T&F group has used.
The Impact made by the Service
The second session included presentations from a range of officers from Ipswich and East
Suffolk CCG, Babergh and Mid Suffolk and Ipswich Borough Councils.
Some key points:
As well as the social impacts of Citizens Advice, it has always been clear that there are direct
and indirect impacts on other service providers. Most notably these are typified by local and
national authorities but may also include other charities.

Page 64

Using 2018/19 figures, it is estimated that for every £1 invested in CA, £3.52 is saved by
national government and local authorities. That same £1 generates £20.84 in wider economic
and social benefits. In Suffolk this translates to £8.1M saved and a wider benefit of £48.1M.
In the field of debt management and benefit assistance the Suffolk Alliance managed £9.1M
of debt and gained their clients £3.6M in income. This is part of an approach of early
intervention to tackle poverty. The knock-on effect of that may not be measurable but is
nonetheless very real.
One overlooked impact is in healthcare. Around 20% of patients consult their GP for what are
primarily social problems. Many of the typical problems of benefits, housing issues and debt
worries lead directly to health issues in themselves. The worry and stress induced can lead to
depression, personal neglect and escalating situations. The Clinical Commissioning Groups
(CCG’s) in Suffolk recognise the value of helping people to help themselves. For this reason,
they have provided funding to Suffolk CA and hope to continue this. GP’s also have recourse
to ‘Social Prescribing’, directing people to appropriate support including CA.
It has already been noted that very few cases involve just a single problem. The housing
departments and benefits managers see the same patterns as CA in their own caseload. Debt
management issues will often include Council Tax and rent arrears. Benefits, and advice
related to them, have a direct impact on the ability to manage finances. As much of the
current approach in these aspects of local government is in intervention and prevention, the
existence of CA provides a useful impact in filtering, directing enquiries and providing a
trusted human element. All the witnesses agreed that this was very much a two-way process,
where they in turn could direct people to CA or other appropriate bodies. Equally, all
witnesses agreed that much of the CA impact was not measurable. Anecdotally, they were all
aware of these impacts and valued CA as an active resource reducing workload. Accordingly,
the Districts and Borough continue to provide the majority share of CA funding in Suffolk.
If we seek strong and healthy communities, a holistic approach to health, housing, benefits,
debt, relationships and legal matters is one we should seek. CA fits that profile exactly and
has much higher trust levels.
We lacked a witness from Suffolk Trading Standards, but were provided with a statement
from Graham Crisp, Head of Trading Standards SCC. This was reproduced within the SCC
Scrutiny Committees Evidence for their meeting examining the SCC Budget for 2020-2021.
That will be covered in the Funding section, Trading Standards having been the SCC funding
section for CA in the past.
In this area, Suffolk CA’s operate a consumer phone service which assesses issues, provides
advice and refers to Trading Standards if necessary. In 2018/19 this dealt with 1,122 cases in
Suffolk, over 21 a week. In addition, the local offices dealt with a further 1,330 clients with
2,075 consumer problems and 224 ‘scam’ related issues.
It seems reasonable to suppose that nearly 2,500 cases would have a significant impact and
cost to Trading Standards, quite apart from other positive benefits. In addition to those issues,
in 2018/19 LCA’s also addressed problems relating to public health, social care, travel &
transport within SCC’s services. A total of 4,344 problems last year relating to services across
the whole of Suffolk County Council.
Page 65

Funding of the Service
The following figures describe the basic annual costs (2018/2019) of running CA services in
West Suffolk, Mid Suffolk, Babergh and Ipswich.
Staff
Office Costs
Rent
Workforce (Training/Travel)
Services

£722,704
108,589
138,500
54,480
49,312
£1,073,561

68%
10%
13%
5%
4%

This seems an even more modest figure considering that 283 Volunteers provided work with
an economic value estimated at £1.7M.
The equivalent Funding of Core Services in the same areas was:
Districts/ Borough
County Council
CCG
Grants/Trusts
Donations

£534,016
113,216
113,216
42,430
93,648
£896,526

This would produce an effective deficit of £177,035. Individual CA’s singly and jointly also
carry out Project work on behalf of a variety of other bodies. A proportion of Core costs can
be absorbed within these project funding arrangements, effectively cross subsidising the Core
service.
In summary, these authority areas (Suffolk less East Suffolk) and other funders have received
£2,773,561 of value for an outlay of £896,526. Quite apart from the National and Local savings
achieved and the economic and social benefits, this represents extraordinary value for
money.
Future funding of Citizens Advice in Suffolk
At the time of writing the local authorities are preparing their draft budgets for consideration
in January and February 2020.
Babergh and Mid Suffolk are preparing to continue their current levels of funding, but on a
three-year basis.
Ipswich Borough Council have a long history of such three-year funding arrangements for CA
and expect to continue them.
West Suffolk have just been formed by merger and their first single year figure is likely to
revert to a three-year arrangement, as provided by the previous councils.
We feel unable to report on East Suffolk figures, but a continuation of current funding is
hoped for.

Page 66

The CCG’s (NHS Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG and NHS West Suffolk) will continue with the
second year of funding arranged last year. This was secured by SCC and amounts to the same
£184,000 for 2020/21, paid through SCC.
Suffolk County Council Scrutiny Committee met on the 7th January 2020 to pre-scrutinise the
SCC 2020-21 budget. The proposals (paras 13-16 of Evidence Set 6) are for a three-year
settlement at £120,000 p.a. This must be very welcome in comparison to the zero-sum
planned in the 2019-20 budget setting process. It is also a positive that the need for the
security of a longer period is recognised. This does mitigate the position, but of course will
still see a reduction in funding for the coming year (from £184,000 in 2019-20). SCC suggest
that solutions to transformational progress be sought, including a potential reduction from
five to four LCA’s across Suffolk.
The existing inherent deficit position for the LCA’s would presumably incentivise them to
explore all possibilities in any case. SCC look to demonstrate that its own resources are used
effectively. They look for a similar efficiency and effectiveness within the LCA’s. It seems clear
to this Task and Finish Group that the Suffolk LCA’s already demonstrate an extremely costeffective service. The matter of transformation must remain the responsibility of the LCA’s
and their trustees. Volunteers, on whom the service relies, have strong attachments to their
own local LCA, wish to keep travel time and costs down and there are risks of losing their
services. There is competition for volunteers too. It is also unclear whether any sanctions
would apply or how they could, should the desired transformation not take place. Given that
SCC would become the third largest funder in the forthcoming year, it would seem a little
harsh to impose conditions.
SCC’s requirement to demonstrate social and economic impact has been undoubtedly
demonstrated in the evidence that the Task and Finish Group has received and gained through
questioning the LCA managers and witnesses.
For these reasons the Task and Finish Group would hope that SCC might reconsider their offer,
but that is a matter for SCC themselves and beyond our direct remit.
RECOMMENDATIONS
The Task and Finish Group report to our respective Scrutiny Committees in January. Budget
preparations are already well underway, and we lost significant time in the run-up to the
General Election. One of the Overview and Scrutiny committees represented on the group
met on the 2nd January to consider their own recommendations. These formed the basis of
the Group’s own recommendations agreed at the meeting held on 7th January 2020.
The direct reporting and recommendation route, under the Terms of Reference of the Task
and Finish Group, is to the individual Overview and Scrutiny Committees and Councils. Some
of the recommendations will already be under consideration from earlier work done.
In the case of all other authorities and funding organisations, the report and
recommendations are offered without prejudice and in the public interest. It is understood
that some decisions may have already been taken in draft format. However, these are capable
of change prior to any final Budget votes. The Task and Finish Group believe the
recommendations below should, in any case, be given consideration.
Page 67

The recommendations from the Task and Finish Group were agreed by the Joint Overview
and Scrutiny Committee on 9th January 2020 and are set out below:

RECOMMENDATIONS – SUFFOLK CROSS AUTHORITY CITIZENS ADVICE TASK
AND FINISH GROUP AGREED ON 7th JANUARY 2020.
(a)
The Task and Finish Group recommend to Suffolk County Council that it meets the
previous proportion of basic core funding needs of Suffolk CAB’s by agreeing to restore its
grant for 2020/2021 to at least £184,000 per annum; and
(b)
The Task and Finish Group recommend to the Clinical Commissioning Groups and
Suffolk County Council that they work together to ensure that – between them - a minimum
of £368,000 is granted to Suffolk CAB’s annually beyond 2020/21; and
(c)
All Suffolk Executives’ attention should be drawn to the Task and Finish Group paper
when considering allocations of Community Cash Grants, or any other funding mechanism,
for 2020/21 onwards and that those Executives should seek that, having regard to the Task
and Finish Group paper, they should seek to avoid any reductions to current annual grants
to Citizens Advice Bureau when considering these allocations for 2020/21 onwards; and
(d)
All districts/boroughs should be made aware of the cash allocations being made to
Citizens Advice by all other Suffolk authorities, in particular where more than one authority
contributes to an individual LCA; and
(e)
The Task and Finish Group recommends that where multi-year arrangements are
agreed for LCA’s, these should be rolling agreements, subject to annual review and annual
inflationary increases, to be agreed by Councils; and
f)
The Task and Finish Group recommends that Communities teams, or their authority
equivalent, are approached to seek other means of funding for the LCA’s and that they and
each of our constituent Councils explore means of raising awareness of the benefits
provided by CAB to the organisation.

Page 68

Agenda Item 11
MID SUFFOLK DISTRICT COUNCIL

MC/19/34

TO:

Council

REPORT NUMBER:

FROM:

Cabinet Member for
Planning

DATE OF MEETING: 23 January 2020

OFFICER:

Robert Hobbs (Corporate
Manager - Strategic
Planning)

KEY DECISION REF NO. N/A

BOTESDALE & RICKINGHALL NEIGHBOURHOOD DEVELOPMENT PLAN
1.

PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1

This report updates Full Council on the local referendum that was held in relation to
the Botesdale & Rickinghall Neighbourhood Plan.

1.2

The report recommends that Mid Suffolk District Council agree to ‘make’ (adopt) the
Botesdale & Rickinghall Neighbourhood Plan.

2.

OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1

The relevant regulations require that, if the majority of those who vote in a referendum
are in favour of the draft Plan, then that Plan must be made by the local planning
authority within eight weeks of the referendum. In light of the declared result, no other
options were considered.

3.

RECOMMENDATIONS

3.1

That the Botesdale & Rickinghall Neighbourhood Plan be formally ‘made’ (adopted)
as part of the District Council’s Development Plan and be used to help determine
planning applications where relevant.

3.2

That the Decision Statement (Appendix 1) be published with immediate effect.
REASON FOR DECISION

3.3

To enable the Council to meet its statutory obligations under Section 18A of the
Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 (as amended) and to allow the
Botesdale & Rickinghall Neighbourhood Plan to be ‘made’.

4.

KEY INFORMATION

4.1

Mid Suffolk Cabinet resolved at its meeting on 7 October 2019 that the Botesdale &
Rickinghall Neighbourhood Plan should proceed to a local referendum. The local
referendum was held on Thursday 28 November 2019.

4.2

The format of the referendum question was: ‘Do you want Mid Suffolk District Council
to use the neighbourhood plan for Botesdale & Rickinghall to help it decide planning
applications in the neighbourhood area?’

Page 69

4.3

The count took place on 28 November 2019 and more than 50% of those who voted
were in favour of the Plan. The declared result was:
Response

Votes Cast

Percentage of total

YES

377

87.1%

NO

56

12.9%

Other

0

-

Total

433

100%

[ Electorate: 1678 / Ballot Papers Issued: 433 / Turnout: 25.8% ]
4.4

The above result now enables the District Council to formally ‘make’ (adopt) the
Botesdale & Rickinghall Neighbourhood Plan and for it to become part of the
Development Plan. It will therefore be used in conjunction with existing planning
policy documents to help determine planning applications where relevant.

4.5

The District Council is only able to exercise further discretion at this point if it
considers that the Plan would be in breach of any environmental legislation or any of
the Convention Rights (within the meaning of the Human Rights Act, 1998). The Plan
is not in breach of either pieces of legislation.

4.6

The report presented to Cabinet on 7 October 2019 confirmed that the Botesdale &
Rickinghall Neighbourhood Plan, as modified to incorporate the Examiner’s
Recommendations, complies with the ‘Basic Conditions’ as set out in Paragraph 8(2),
Schedule 4B the Town & Country Planning Act, 1990. Accordingly the Botesdale &
Rickinghall Neighbourhood Plan should be duly made. A ‘final draft’ Decision
Statement is appended to this report.

5.

LINKS TO JOINT STRATEGIC PLAN

5.1

The successful making (adoption) of this Neighbourhood Plan will enable the District
Council to fulfil its corporate priorities in terms of housing delivery, business growth
and community capacity building.

6.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

6.1

The District Council receives £20,000 from the Ministry of Housing, Communities and
Local Government for each neighbourhood plan once a referendum date has been
set following a successful examination. This sum is paid to meet the District Council’s
costs in helping to deliver this Plan and will be sufficient in this case.

6.2

The Botesdale & Rickinghall Neighbourhood Plan once ‘made’ (adopted) enables the
relevant Parish Councils to receive 25% of any Community Infrastructure Levy
receipts from development in their area.

7.

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

7.1

The Neighbourhood Plan has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the
Town and Country Planning Act, 1990, the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act,
2004 and the Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations, 2012 (as amended).
It has also had regard to the Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes
Regulations, 2004 and the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations, 2017.

Page 70

7.2

Once ‘made’ (adopted), the Botesdale & Rickinghall Neighbourhood Plan will become
part of the Development Plan and be used to help determine planning applications
where relevant.

8.

RISK MANAGEMENT

8.1

This report is most closely linked with Significant Business Risk No. 3a – We may not
be able to help communities to become more sustainable. The key risks are set out
below:
Risk Description

Likelihood Impact

Legal challenge to the
Unlikely - 2 Bad - 3
content of the
Neighbourhood Plan and/or
judicial review of the District
Council’s decisions.

Mitigation Measures
Ensuring that the relevant
Regulations were followed
and that the decision making
processes were clear and
transparent.

9.

CONSULTATIONS

9.1

The District Council undertook formal consultation on the submission draft version of
the Botesdale & Rickinghall Neighbourhood Plan between 11 February and 27 March
2019.

10.

EQUALITY ANALYSIS

10.1

There are no equality or diversity implications arising directly from this report. An
Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) is not required.

11.

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS

11.1

The consideration of environmental implications are an integral part of the
Neighbourhood Plan preparation process. The Botesdale & Rickinghall
Neighbourhood Plan has been subject to the appropriate Strategic Environmental
and Habitats Regulations screening assessments.

12.

APPENDICES
Title

Location

(1) ‘Final Draft’ Decision Statement

Attached

Page 71

Appendix 1
Mid Suffolk District Council
Final Decision Statement
Botesdale & Rickinghall Neighbourhood Development
Plan
On 28 November 2019 a local referendum was held in which more than half of those who voted
did so in favour of the Botesdale & Rickinghall Neighbourhood Development Plan. Accordingly,
Mid Suffolk District Council has decided to ‘make’ (adopt) the Plan.
The Plan as made becomes part of the Development Plan for the area and will be used where
relevant to help the District Council decide planning applications. This decision was taken by
Full Council on 23 January 2020.
Reason for Decision
In accordance with the provisions of the Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations, 2012
(as amended) the District Council appointed an independent examiner to assess the submitted
Botesdale & Rickinghall Neighbourhood Plan.
The examination was undertaken by Ann Skippers BSc (Hons) MRTPI FRSA AoU, a ‘suitably
qualified and experienced’ person who was independent of the plan making process. The
Examiner concluded that subject to modification the Plan would comply with the ‘Basic
Conditions’ as set out in Paragraph 8(2), Schedule 4B of the Town & Country Planning Act,
1990.
Mid Suffolk Cabinet, at its meeting on 7 October 2019, agreed with the suggested modifications
and concurred that the Plan so modified would comply with the Basic Conditions. Cabinet
therefore resolved that the Botesdale & Rickinghall Neighbourhood Plan should proceed to a
local referendum.
The local referendum was held on 28 November 2019. The format of the local referendum
question was: ‘Do you want Mid Suffolk District Council to use the neighbourhood plan for
Botesdale & Rickinghall to help it decide planning applications in the neighbourhood area?’
More than 50% of those who voted in the referendum were in favour of the Plan. The declared
result was:
Response
Yes
No
Other
Total

No. of Votes Cast

Percentage of Total

377
56
0
433

87.1%
12.9%
100%

The result of the local referendum enables the District Council to formally make the Botesdale
& Rickinghall Neighbourhood Plan unless it considers that the Plan would be in breach of any
EU obligation or any of the Convention Rights (within the meaning of the Human Rights Act,
1998). At its meeting on 7 October 2019 the Council decided that the Plan was not in breach of
this legislation and that it should be made part of the Development Plan for the district.
Dated: 23 January 2020
Page 72

